MELA notes

MIDDLE EAST LIBRARIANS ASSOCIATION

NUMBER 50-51

SPRING-FALL 1990

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1987年 - 19874 - 1987年 - 19874 - 1987年 - 19874 - 1987年 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 19874 - 198	
Editor's Note	2
Future Conferences	3
MEMP Executive Committee Meeting Minutes	5
News of the Members	9
MELA Dues Reminder	9
NOTICES	
Library Developments in Iraq	
by Michael Albin	10
Turkish Library Week	
by Salwa Ferahian	11
BILADI	11
The Middle East & South Asia Folklore Newsletter	11
Bibliographic Notices	12
ARTICLES	
Some Technical Terms Relative to the Execution of Arabic Manuscrip	pts
by Adam Gacek	13
Israeli Censorship Issue Receives Wide Exposure at ALA Convention	
by David L. Williams	19
Islamic and Middle Eastern Resources	
by Salwa Ferahian & John Leide	22
Princeton University Library Arabic Book Preservation Project	
by Hedi BenAicha	33
Vernacular Access to Titles in Hebrew Script at the OSU Libraries	
by Amnon Zipin	36
Information on the Collecting of Middle Eastern Materials from an	
Analysis of the RLIN Database	
by John A. Eilts	43
BOOK REVIEWS	
Index Islamicus, 1665-1905	
reviewed by Jonathan Rodgers	46
Nosseir, Aida Ibrahim, <u>Arabic Books Published in Egypt in the</u>	
Hineteenth Century	
reviewed by Fawzi Abdulrazak	51
POSITIONS AVAILABLE	
Univ. of California-Santa Barbara Library	55
MEMBERSHIP LIST	56
SUBSCRIPTION LIST	91

MELA NOTES

ISSN 0364-2410

MIDDLE EAST LIBRARIANS ASSOCIATION

Meryle A. Gaston
New York University

President 1990

Fawzi Khoury
University of Washington

Vice President & Program Chair 1990

Michael Hopper Harvard University

Secretary-Treasurer 1990-1992

Brenda E. Bickett Georgetown University Editor 1988-1990

<u>MELA Notes</u> is published three times a year, in winter, spring, and fall. It is distributed to members of the Association and to nonmember subscribers.

Membership dues of US\$10.00 bring the <u>Notes</u> and other mailings. Subscriptions are US\$10.00 per calendar year, or US\$4.00 per issue for most back numbers.

Address correspondence regarding subscriptions, dues or membership information to: MICHAEL HOPPER, SECRETARY-TREASURER MELA, MIDDLE EAST DEPT., HARVARD UNIVERSITY, CAMBRIDGE MA 02138, USA. PHONE: 617-495-2437; FAX: 617-495-0403.

Contributions to the <u>Notes</u> can be sent to: BRENDA E. BICKETT, <u>MELA NOTES</u> EDITOR, CATALOGING DEPT., GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY LIBRARY, P.O. BOX 37445, WASHINGTON DC 20013 USA. PHONE: 202-687-7541; FAX: 202-687-1215.



MIDDLE EAST LIBRARIANS ASSOCIATION NUMBER 50-51 SPRING-FALL 1990

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Editor's Note	2
Future Conferences	3
MEMP Executive Committee Meeting Minutes	5
News of the Members	9
MELA Dues Reminder	У
NOTICES	
Library Developments in Iraq	
by Michael Albin	10
Turkish Library Week	
by Salwa Ferahian	11
BILADI	11
The Middle East & South Asia Folklore Newsletter	11
Bibliographic Notices	12
ARTICLES	
Some Technical Terms Relative to the Execution of Arabic Manuscri	•
by Adam Gacek	13
Israeli Censorship Issue Receives Wide Exposure at ALA Convention	
by David L. Williams	19
Islamic and Middle Eastern Resources	
by Salwa Ferahian & John Leide	22
Princeton University Library Arabic Book Preservation Project	
by Hedi BenAicha	33
Vernacular Access to Titles in Hebrew Script at the OSU Libraries	
by Amnon Zipin	36
Information on the Collecting of Middle Eastern Materials from an	
Analysis of the RLIN Database	
by John A. Eilts	43
BOOK REVIEWS	
Index Islamicus, 1665-1905	
reviewed by Jonathan Rodgers	46
Nosseir, Aida Ibrahim, <u>Arabic Books Published in Egypt in the</u>	
Nineteenth Century	
reviewed by Fawzi Abdulrazak	51
POSITIONS AVAILABLE	
Univ. of California-Santa Barbara Library	55
MEMBERSHIP LIST	56
SUBSCRIPTION LIST	91

FROM THE EDITOR

This issue combines Numbers 50 and 51.

It is with sadness and some relief that I prepare this message for the last issue of my term as editor of MELA Notes. The past three years have been fun, challenging and demanding, as I faced the computer screen on a sunny Saturday afternoon, trying to make the word processing software do what the manual said it could do, as I called yet one more person to write one more article and fax it to me tomorrow, as I attempted to figure out an author meant to say, as I cajoled the printer into meeting one more impossible deadline, as I wrangled with the Post Office over this week's interpretation of overseas airmail printed matter regulations. But it is time for another lucky MELA member to experience the joy and despair ... Best of everything to the new editor!

To all of you who contributed your technical expertise, thoughts, observations, musings, and, especially, those who actually wrote something (and especially to those who wrote several items) ... thanks!!!!

Brenda E. Bickett

FUTURE CONFERENCES

The Book in the Islamic World

The Center for the Book at the Library of Congress will host a two-day international conference entitled *The Book in the Islamic World*, on 8-9 November 1990. Under the direction of Dr. George N. Atiyeh and a LC committee composed of MICHAEL ALBIN, CHRIS FILSTRUP and JOHN COLE, the conference will focus on the history, art, production, and impact of the book on the Islamic world.

For more information, contact:

Dr. George N. Atiyeh Near East Section, Libary of Congress Washington, D.C. 20540

MELA 1990

The annual meeting of MELA will be held on 10 November 1990, in San Antonio, Texas. Due to the involvement of many MELA members in the LC conference on the Islamic book in Washington on 8-9 November, the order of the schedule has been reversed: the business meeting will be held *first*, followed by the program portion.

FAWZI KHOURY, 1990 Program Chair and Vice-President of MELA announces the following tentative schedule:

10:00 a.m. - noon

Business meeting

noon - 1:30 p.m.

Lunch

2:00 - 4:00 p.m. Program I: "On-site acquisitions"

FAWZI ÅBDULRAZAK GEORGE ATIYEH MIDHAT ABRAHAM ABAZAR SEPEHRI CHRIS MURPHY

4:30 - 6:00 p.m. Program II: "Use of the PC in the work environment"

Information has been sent to MELA members. If you have not received the mailing or need further information, contact FAWZI KHOURY at The University of Washington Libraries, FM-25, Seattle WA 98195. Tel.: 206-737-3260; Bitnet: fawzi@milton.u.washington.edu.

MESA 1990

The annual conference of the Middle East Studies Association will be held from 10-14 November 1990, in San Antonio, Texas, at the San Antonio Convention Center. Further information is available from MESA.

THIRD NATIONAL CONFERENCE ON LIBRARIANS AND INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT:

Information Management in the Developing World

The conference will be held at Oregon State University in Corvallis, Oregon from 28-30 April 1991. All phases of information management will be considered in the initial program planning, including: training for staff, new technologies, acquisitions, preservation, bibliographic control, reference services, resource sharing and the role of library activities in project management.

Presentations will emphasize work done in developing countries and organizational ties which have fostered improved information management. Suggestions for speakers and proposals for papers, poster sessions, and panels which fit the general theme are solicited.

Submit abstracts by 1 November 1990 to program co-chair: RITA FISHER, OWEN SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING LIBRARY, WASHINGTON STATE UNIVERSITY, PULLMAN, WA 99164-3200.. Tel.: 509-335-4181; BITNET: FISHER@WSUVM1.

Address other inquiries to program co-chair: Shirley Scott, Kerr Library, Oregon State University, Corvallis OR 97331-4501. Tel.: 503-737-3260; BITNET: SCOTT@ORSTATE.

MIDDLE EAST MICROFORM PROJECT EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING May 4, 1990

Place of meeting: Center for Research Libraries, Chicago, Illinois

Members present: Edward Jajko, Chairman; David H. Partington, Secretary; Dona Straley (Ohio State University); Fawzi Khoury (University of Washington, and MELA); Ray Boylan (CRL); George Atiyeh (Library of Congress).

Members absent: Dennis Hyde (University of Pennsylvania); Brenda Bickett (Georgetown University); Abazar Sepehri (University of Texas).

Chairman Ed Jajko opened the meeting at 10:00 a.m. The minutes of the previous meeting were approved.

The financial report was presented by Ray Boylan, who indicated a balance of \$22,543,27 in the treasury.

Mr. Boylan also informed the Executive Committee that within CRL a committee has been looking into the special projects (like MEMP, etc.) to see how they related to the Center, against a background of increasing costs at CRL. The work connected to the projects has not increased much, but other aspects of CRL's work have increased, causing a "staff drain" away from the activities of the projects. The special committee, headed by Paul Fasano, has met once and plans to meet again this June. Among its concerns are:

- 1) not to interfere with the projects;
- 2) to examine the costs of running the projects-some projects have large balances;
- 3) to see if the access fees need adjustment, or if different categories of CRL membership would be useful;
 - 4) to examine the projects' needs for specialized staffing;
 - 5) to look into grant applications.

Mr. Boylan averred that the special committee was not at all taking a negative posture vis-a-vis the projects. Under questioning by Chairman Jajko, Mr. Boylan indicated that recommendations are due from the special committee in September, 1990, and that these would likely be put into final form during the fall of this year. When asked by Ed Jajko if the deliberations are secret, Mr. Boylan responded that the discussions are informal and that the CRL Board minutes are made public.

Mr. Boylan reported that newspapers have arrived from the Sudan. So far, two titles have been filmed. George Atiyeh informed the meeting that the Library of Congress has about twenty other titles and suggested that CRL film them also. Mr. Boylan suggested that MEMP cooperate with CAMP on filming these Sudanese newspapers to share the expenses. Ms. Straley agreed with this, saying that cooperation would set a good precedent. Accordingly, the Executive Committee voted affirmatively:

1) to add the LC newspapers to the project, and

2) to ask CAMP to share the cost of microfilming.

George Atiyeh and Ray Boylan agreed to confer on the mechanics of getting the LC newspapers into the project.

Chairman Jajko devoted much of the morning session to one aspect of "Old Business", namely his strong interest in improving relations between MEMP and MESA. In fact, he has succeeded in creating a relationship between the two bodies. He recounted the steps he took to secure affiliation with MESA, which apparently will cost nothing.

Jajko also has submitted to MESA an application for a MEMP workshop, which, if approved, would be run by four members: Mr. Jajko, Ms. Straley, Ms. Bickett and Mr. Abraham. Fawzi Khoury stated that MEMP revenues should not be used for this activity. Because of the abundant criticism in scholarly circles about the poor quality of too many of the MESA panels, Jajko could not be optimistic about his chances for approval of the MEMP panel. He should receive the decision by the middle of May.

Discussion ensued about a MELA/MEMP table at MESA, the fees involved, and what sort of pamphlets or information should be available. Fawzi Khoury volunteered to present the idea of a MELA/MEMP table to the MELA Executive Committee. The MEMP Executive Committee voted to rent a table at the next MESA meeting, to charge the expense to our treasury, and to ask MELA to participate. Ray Boylan suggested we have a separate list of what MEMP already holds, and that a folder on CRL be displayed. Ed Jajko thought a decent-looking folder with a MEMP logo would be appropriate; Mr. Boylan said a ready-made CRL folder on which the MEMP logo could be imprinted would be another possibility. This found favor with the Executive Committee. Dona Straley volunteered to draft the text of a brochure that would be placed with the folder. Fawzi Khoury, in turn, volunteered to prepare examples of labels and send them out for the Board's approval next week, by fax.

The MEMP brochure is expected to contain a list of our members, telephone numbers, CRL information and details of MEMP governance. It will stress the affiliation with MESA and give a brief statement of our various projects, such as Sudanese Newspapers. Ed Jajko suggested that the

folder include a paper in the form of a questionnaire on which persons could indicate proposal for filming and give information about their institutional affiliation. Boylan hopes for a question such as, "would you be willing to make formal proposal for a certain title?" Jajko said he would work on a collection development policy statement, a well as the questionnaire; Dona Straley will draft the general text of the brochure; and Khoury will prepare labels.

As for the aforementioned Collection Development Policy Statement, Jajko said a committee to draft this already exists, consisting of Jajko, Abazar Sepehri and Frank Unlandherm. He will have the statement ready in time for the Fall MESA meeting. Boylan suggested that once drafted it be sent to the entire membership.

Mr. Jajko also detailed his other plans for MEMP publicity. His text about MEMP that he prepared for the MESA Bulletin was approved by the Executive Committee. He also has sent letters to the directors of libraries of all U.S. institutional MESA members to explain the benefits of membership in MEMP. A list of MEMP institutions and a copy of the By-Laws was included in that mailing. Boylan said we should make it clear that the MEMP <u>Union List of Serials</u> (prepared by Mr. Khoury) is not a list of MEMP holdings. Jajko said that he would clarify that important point in his informational package. Jajko's next step will be to address MELA librarians, in an effort to gain new institutional members, and, after that, the foreign institutions.

At this point in the meeting, Mr. Jajko recounted his conversations with the new Executive Secretary of MESA, Dr. Anne Betteridge.

Mr. Boylan informed us that the "BIRD" committee is working to get microfilming cameras into the USSR. This might provide a means for MEMP to get access to certain materials, including serials from Central or Inner Asia. George Atiyeh said he would try to get information about their progress. Hugh Olmsted, Slavic Librarian at Harvard, is a member of that group and David Partington said he would see what information Olmsted can give us.

Before breaking for lunch, the Executive Committee formed itself into a Nominating Committee of the Whole to seek candidates for nomination to fill the three positions that will be vacant in Fall, 1990. The Nominating Committee voted to ask David Partington, Brenda Bickett, Midhat Abraham, and/or Laurie Abbott (if she can serve as the University of Chicago representative) if they would accept nomination. David Partington, present, accepted. Chairman Jajko said he would contact the others.

The afternoon session took up new business. Cataloging was the first item. Ms. Straley raised the question of how MEMP materials would be cataloged, given that CRL's catalogers may lack the required languages. She suggested that MEMP members agree to do the cataloging on a volunteer basis, and offered to have Ohio State do one or two titles a year. Ms. Straley asked for an official letter from MEMP requesting this. A cataloger from the CRL staff then joined us. He indicated he would accept an OCLC record, or he could transform a record any one of us might send him. He said that CRL would supply workforms to any MEMP member library that might be willing to assist. All members present offered to provide catalog copy, and we agreed that using the CRL workforms and having CRL do the inputting is better than having individual libraries do the inputting on their own.

The timetable for the Fall meetings was examined, especially in light of the effect that the LC conference on Arabic printing would have on our November schedules. We agreed that on Saturday the 10th of November, the MELA Business Meeting would be held from 10:00 a.m. to 12;00 noon; the MEMP Executive Committee would meet at lunch from 12:00 noon to 2:00 p.m. The MELA Program would be held from 2:00 p.m. to 4:00 p.m., and the MEMP Committee meeting would run from 4:30 p.m. to its conclusion.

New titles for filming came under discussion. Fawzi Khoury recommended Courier d'Orient, and George Atiyeh suggested Dalil Misr, and certain documents LC has gathered on the Lebanese War.

The meeting concluded at 2:20 p.m. All members present thanked Ray Boylan for his contributions to the deliberations--and for the lunch CRL provided in our meeting room.

Submitted by D. Partington, MEMP Secretary and amended by E. Jajko, MEMP Chair

NEWS OF THE MEMBERS

In May, the Middle East Collection at the University of Texas at Austin moved to the Perry-Casteneda Library (PCL). New mailing address:

Abazar Sepehri Middle East Studies Librarian PCL 5.104 The General Libraries The University of Texas at Austin Austin TX 78712-7330

Priscilla H. Roberts will give a paper at the First Tangier Colloquium entitled "Nineteenth Century Tangier: Its American Visitors, Who They Were, Why They Came, and What They Wrote." The Colloquium, sponsored by Universite Mohamed V, Faculte des Lettres et des Sciences Humaines de Rabat and the Ecole Superieure Roi Fahd de Traduction de Tanger, will be held 18-20 October 1990 in Tangier. The theme is "Tangier through its recent history, 1800-1956" and papers will be presented in three areas: Tangier: diplomatic capital of the Kingdom; Life in Tangier; and Tangier as an object of international rivalry.

Simon Samoeil has recently moved to Yale University, where he will be the Middle East Bibliographer.

Harvard University now has a full-time Turkish cataloger, **David Zmijewski**, whose title is Turkish Language Specialist.

At Princeton University, **Juliet Yaghoubi** is now the Persian cataloger and **Johnny Bahbah** is the Arabic cataloger.

1991 MELA DUES REMINDER

Your Secretary-Treasurer, Michael Hopper, reminds you that 1991 MELA dues should be paid before the annual meeting in San Antonio. You can pay Michael in San Antonio or send your money (\$10 for North American addresses, \$15 for those outside North America) to:

MICHAEL HOPPER
MIDDLE EAST DIVISION
WIDENER LIBRARY
HARVARD UNIVERSITY
CAMBRIDGE MA 02178

LIBRARY DEVELOPMENTS IN IRAQ

BAGHDAD PUBLIC LIBRARY OPENS

Students of Iraqi history will be delighted to learn that the home of Miss Gertrude Bell, a prominent personality in Iraq's history during the 1920's and 1930's, has been restored and is now occupied by a branch of Baghdad's public library system. The stately, two-story villa was opened as a library in 1988. Gertrude Bell was political counselor to the British High Commissioner in Iraq during the Mandate period. She was a confidente of both the British authorities and Faisal I, King of Iraq. Her residence on the Tigris is one of numerous distinguished buildings that have been restored by the municipal government.

IRAQ PLANS NATIONAL LIBRARY

Planning is underway for a Brobdingnagian expansion of Iraq's National Library. Iraq architects are submitting ideas for the design of the building, which will house over 60 million volumes in all formats. The deadline for the design competition is Fall 12900. with construction to begin on a site near the Iraq Museum in 1991. The national collection currently housed at Bab al-Muaddam will be moved to the new building. A decision regarding the future location of the Iraqi National Archives, which shares quarters with the INL, has not yet been made, according to Iraqi library officials.

Michael Albin Library of Congress

TURKISH LIBRARY WEEK

In commemoration of Turkish Library Week, 26-31 March 1990, a first-day cover was issued by the Turkish Post Office. To order, write:

T.C. P.T.T. Pul Kolleksiyon Bolumu - <u>Kizilay</u> Ankara TURKEY

Salwa Ferahian McGill University

BILADI: COMPUTERIZED DATABASE ON PALESTINE

Hanania Enterprises announces a computerized database on Palestine which includes historic documents, biographies, goeogrphic information, chronology of events, bibliography, and maps. The package comprises 8 diskettes, including the system disk.

Further information is available from Hanania Enterprises, Ltd., P.O. Box 356, Tinley Park IL 60477. The cost is \$125.00

(This information is excerpted from <u>Palestine Perspectives</u>, Mar./Apr. 1989, p. 13)

THE MIDDLE EAST AND SOUTH ASIA FOLKLORE NEWSLETTER

Since 1984 The Middle East and South Asia Folklore Newsletter has been informing scholars about developments, conferences, publications and ongoing fieldwork relating to the folklore of the Middle East and South Asia. The Spring 1990 issue (vol. 7, no. 2) has recently been published. The newsletter is published at the Center for Comparative Studies in the Humanities at the Ohio State University and appears triannually.

Subscriptions are \$6.00 for US residents and \$10.00 for institutions and foreign subscribers. Address inquiries for submissions and subscriptions to:

The Middle East and South Asia Folklore Newsletter Center for Comparative Studies in the Humanities 306 Dulles Hall 230 W. 17th Ave. Columbus OH 43210 USA

BIBLIOGRAPHIC NOTICES

Silverburg, Sanford R. and Bernard Reich. <u>U.S. foreign policy and the Middle East/North Africa: a bibliography of twentieth cnetury research.</u> New York: Garland Publishing Co., 1990. (Garland reference libary of social science, v. 570)

Vassie, Roderic, "A reflection of reality - authority control of Muslim personal names", <u>International cataloguing and bibliographic control</u> (Jan.-Mar. 1990): 3-6

SOME TECHNICAL TERMS RELATIVE TO THE EXECUTION OF ARABIC MANUSCRIPTS

One of the most important elements of the manuscript codex, for the purpose of its proper identification, is the colophon. Here we usually find a number of data relating not only to the composition (author, title, date) but also execution or transcription (copyist, patron, date, etc.). The manner in which a given manuscript was executed was invariably described in one or two words which often carried specific meanings. Some of these words were used both for the composition and transcription and, in most cases, it is the context which allows us to make the distinction. A number of them had difference connotations depending on the period and/or region. The list which follows consists of the words gathered from the colophons of various manuscripts, as well from dictionaries and different Arabic sources.

ABBREVIATIONS

"ALM = al-Almawī, Abd al-Bāsit. <u>al-Mufid fī adab al-mufid wa-al-mustafīd</u>. Damascus, 1971.

Bal = al-Balgh รัthร, Aḥmad ibn al-Ma'mนัก. <u>al-Ibtihāj bi-nนิ al-sirāj</u>. Cairo, 1319 H.

IQT = Ibn al-Sīd al-Batalyawsī, Abd Allāh ibn Muḥammad. <u>al-Iqtidāb fī</u> sharḥ adab al-kuttāb. Beirut, 1973.

ISM = Gacek, Adam. <u>Catalogue of Arabic manuscripts in the Library of the Institute of Ismaili Studies</u>. London, 1984-1985.

KON = Koningsveld, P.S. van and al-Samarrai, Q. <u>Localities and dates in Arabic manuscripts</u>. Leiden, 1978. (Brill, Catalogue 500)

KUP = Şeşen, Ramazan *et al.* Fihris makhtutat Maktabat Kuprılı. Istanbul, 1986.

LANG = Gacek, Adam. "The language of catalogues of Arabic manuscripts", MELA Notes, 48 (1989): 21-29.

LIS = Ibn Manzūr, Muhammad ibn Mukarram. <u>Lisān al-^cArab al-muḥrt.</u> Beirut, [1970]

LOND = Gacek, Adam. <u>Catalogue of the Arabic manuscripts in the Library of the School of Oriental and African Studies, University of London.</u> London, 1981.

MAH = Maḥfūz, Ḥusayn Alr. "Ilm al-makhtūtat", <u>al-Mawrid</u>, 5 (1976): 144-145.

MCG = Gacek, Adam. <u>Union catalogue of Arabic manuscripts preserved in the libraries of McGill University</u>. Montreal, forthcoming 1990.

Микн = Ibn Sīdah, ^сАlī ibn Ismā^cīl. <u>Kitāb al-mukhassas</u>. Cairo, 1321 H.

Muq = Ibn al-Ṣalāḥ, Uthmān ibn Abd al-Raḥmān. Muqaddimat Ibn al-Salāh fī Ulūm al-hadīth. Damascus, 1972.

NIH = al-NuwayrT, Ahmad ibn Abd al-Wahhab. Nihayat al-arab fT funun al-adab. Cairo, 1932-

Nuw = Gacek, Adam. "Al-Nuwayrr's classification of Arabic scripts," Manuscripts of the Middle East, 2 (1987): 126-130.

QAL = al-Qalqashand T, Ahmad ibn Alt. Subh al-a sha fr sina at al-insha. Cairo, 1963.

RAM = al-Ramahurmuzī, al-Ḥasan ibn Abd al-Raḥmān. <u>al-Muhaddith al-fāṣil bayna al-rawī wa-al-war</u>. Beirut, 1391 H.

SAD = Sadan, J. "Nouveaux documents sur scribes et copistes," Revue des études islamiques, 45 (1977): 41-87.

SCH = Schimmel, Annemarie. <u>Calligraphy and Islamic culture</u>. New York, 1984.

SELL = Sellheim, Rudolf. Arabische Handscriften. Wiesbaden, 1976-1987.

Sij = Gacek, Adam. "The ancient <u>sijill</u> of Qayrawan," <u>MELA Notes</u>, 46 (1989): 26-29.

TADH = Ibn Jama ah, Muḥammad ibn Ibrahīm. <u>Tadhkirat al-sami wa-al-mutakallim fī adab al-alim wa-al-muta allim</u>. Hyderabad, 1353 H.

WIT = Witkam, Jan Just. <u>Catalogue of Arabic manuscripts in the Library of the University of Leiden and other collections in the Netherlands</u>. Leiden, 1983-

YAQ = Yaqut al-Rumt. Mu am al-udaba. Ed. Ahmad Farid al-Rifat. Cairo, 1936-1938.

fallaqa, tafiq = writing, copying. Tafiq is usually associated with joining of the letters in an unconventional way and for this reason it was disliked by the Traditionists ('ALM, 133; "huwa khalt al-hurūf allatī yanbaghī tafriqatuhā"). It was a type of hand associated also with jotting down short comments (hence tafiqat, tafalīq) and, therefore, very much a scholar's hand. It is perhaps not a coincidence that one of the oldest Persian scripts, characterized by its abundance of ligatures, should be called by the same name.

bannaqa, tabniq = elegant writing, copying (IQT, 93: "kitābah ḥasanah"). Cf. nabaqa.

bayyada, tabyid = writing out the final (fair) copy, hence mubayyadah, bayad (fair copy, as opposed to a draft musawwadah, sawad). It is more often associated with the author's holograph, although we also find it in the sense of a transcription prepared by a copyist (McG, no. 221; "nuqila min al-sawad ila al-bayad"). Tabyid literally means creating adequate space (bayad) between letters and lines and therefore producing a clear, neat text. It is the opposite of taswid (cf. sawwada).

dawwana, tadwin = writing, copying (LANG, 27). This word was originally used in the sense of kataba, hence kitab and diwan, meaning a collection of writings (not necessarily of poetry), were used interchangeably. Used both for composition and transcription.

dhahhaba, tadhhīb = writing in gold, chrysography (McG, no. 253/1: "katabahu wa-dhahhabahu"). Another form of the same root is idhhāb (Sij, 27; YaQ, XV, 120: "ṣāḥib al-khaṭṭ al-malīḥ wa-al-idhhāb al-fā'iq").

habbara, taḥbir = elegant writing, copying (IQT, 93: ""kitābah ḥasanah"; KON, 89). It is associated with the word hibr (black ink), which was regarded by some as being of better quality than midād (TADH, 178: al-kitābah bi-al-hibr awla min al-midād li-annahu athbat". Al-Qalqashandī tells us that it is associated with a process of beautifying something "habbartu al-shay' taḥbiran idhā hassantuhu" (QAL, II, 472).

hammara, taḥmir = writing in red ink, rubricating (LANG, 24; Kon, 133: "raqm taḥmirihā"). Hence humrah, rubrics, rubrication (McG, no. 164: "tammat al-humrah al-mubarakah ... sanat 1035").

harrara, tahrīr = 1) elegant writing, copying. This word is often synonymous with tabyīd (fair or clean copying) and is used both for composition and transcription (LOND, no.317; McG, no. 80). Taḥrīr is also often associated with the calligrapher (muḥarrir). Yāqūt makes this very

clear when he says "wa-kana fi awwal amrihi mu alliman fa-lamma jada khattuhu sara muharriran" (YAQ, XVII, 280). 2) writing a vocalized text (SCH, 171, n. 61). 3) script derived from Shikastah Nasta fiq. 4) outlining of figures and/or letters, executed in gold, with black ink (MAH, 144: "faidha haddadu atraf al-nuqush al-mudhahhabah wa-al-khutut al-maktubah bi-ma' al-dhahab bi-al-hibr al-aswad sammu dhalika al-tahrīr").

kataba, katb (other forms of the same root are kitbah, kitāb, kitābah, iktitāb) = writing, copying. Used for both composition and transcription. The word katabahu is also employed as an introductory element of the autograph (in manuscripts often in its abbreviated form kāf or kāf hā', joined together). When used by a calligrapher it implies the existence of an ijāzah on his part (SCH, 45).

lamaqa, lamq = elegant writing, copying (IQT, 93: "kitabah hasanah").

mashaqa, mashq = copying, transcription. Usually associated with a hasty, inelegant hand (MUKH, IV, sifr 13, 5: "mashaqa yamshuquhu mashqan wa-huwa sur at al-kitabah; ALM, 133: "al-mashq wa-huwa sur at al-kitabah ma a ba tharat al-hurūf"; MUQ, 89: "sharr al-kitabah al-mashq"). Like ta fiq, it was disliked by the Traditionists. In the Persian and Turkish context, however, mashq refers to a calligraphic exercise and copying from a model, hence perhaps it is not a coincidence that most codices signed with this word exhibit elegant features of handwriting (ISM, II, 6; KON, 123).

nabaqa, nabq; nabbaqa, tanbīq = elegant writing, copying (IQT, 93: "kitābah hasanah"; MUKH,IV, sifr 13, 5: "nabaqtu al-kitāb wa-nabbaqtuhu - sattartuhu wa-katabtuhu"). Syn. of nammaqa (LIS, III, 723). Cf. also bannaqa.

namaqa, namq; nammaqa, tanmīq = elegant writing, copying (IQT, 93: "kitābah ḥasanah"; MUKH, IV, sifr 13, 4: "namaqtuhu anmuquhu namqan wa-nammaqtuhu - katabtuhu"). Hence nāmiq and munammiq, a calligrapher (SCH, Pl. facing p. 76: "adhantu wa-ajaztu bi-waq al-kitbah li-nāmiq hādhihi al-qiṭ ah al-marghūbah"; SELL, I, 141) and namaq, a book (LIS, III, 732).

naqala, naql = copying, transcription (YAQ, XII, 138: "naqaltu min khattih"; ISM, II, xi). Hence naqil, a copyist (KON, 142).

naqaṭa, naqṭ; naqqaṭa, tanqt̄ṭ = pointing of letters, used not only in the sense of distinguishing the same shape of the letter, but also as vocalization by means of red, or sometimes, multi-colored dots, as in many

early copies of the Qur'an (QAL, III, 16: "aw tunqat kulluha ay tushkal idh al-naqt qad yakun bi-mah'a al-shakl"). Hence raqama and raqasha (q.v.) were, most probably, originally associated with polychrome vocalization.

nasakha, naskh (also from the same root naskhah, nasäkhah, tansīkh, intisākh, istinsākh, see KUP, II., nos. 117, 140, 159, 171, 212) = copying, transcription (MUKH, IV, sifr 13, p. 5: "nasakhtu al-kitāb ansakhuhu naskhan - katabtuhu an mu aradah"). Hence nasikh and muntasikh, a copyist.

qayyada, taqyīd = writing, copying (WiT, fasc. 1, p. 14: "qala nāsikhuhu kamala taqyīd hādhihi al-awrāq"). Used both for composition and transcription. Hence taqyīd(āt), a marginal note, gloss (LANG, 27).

rajja a, tarji = 1) retouching, retouchage; writing in bold characters (LIS, I, 1129: "an Abī Ḥanīfah: wa-rajja al-naqsh wa-al-washm wa-al-kitābah: raddada khuṭūṭahā wa-tarjī uhā an yu ad alayhā al-sawād marratan ba da ukhra"). 2) polychrome illumination (MUKH, IV, sifr 13, 5: "al-tarjī washy al-kitāb wa-al-naqsh"). Hence perhaps raj and rujū those elements of the word or words themselves written in various colors (BAL, I, 252 and 253).

raqama, raqm; raqqama, tarqim = elegant writing, copying (IQT, 93: "kitabah hasanah"; ISM, I, nos. 10, 19b, 53a, p. 73 illus.) Perhaps originally associated with the pointing of the text and, therefore, a careful transcription, and also possibly a red dot or polychrome vocalization (cf. naqata and raqasha). In calligraphic circles raqama was used as an expression of modesty (SCH, 171, n. 61). Hence raqim and muraqqim,, a calligrapher and mirgam, a calamus (RAM, 96; LIS, I, 1210).

raqasha, raqqsh; raqqasha, tarqiqsh = elegant writing, copying (IQT, 93: "kitābah ḥasanah"; MUKH, 4, sifr 13, 5: "al-kitābah wa-al-tastir fi al-şuḥūf:; LIS, I, 1206: "al-raqsh al-khaṭṭ al-ḥasan", "al-raqsh wa-al-tarqish al-kitābah wa-al-tanqit"). Cf. naqaṭa and raqama.

rașșa a, tarși = illumination with gold and saffron (MAH, 145: "wa-al-za tarăn - idhā dakhalat ma a al-tadhhīb fi șină at al-naqsh summiya dhālika al-tarși ").

saddada, tasdid = copying, transcription (WIT, fasc. 1, 19 and 31).

saţţara, tasţīr = writing, copying (QAL III, 140: "huwa idafat al-kalimah ilá al-kalimah hatta taṣīr saṭran muntazim al-wad ka-al-misṭarah"; ISM, I, 73, illus.). Hence musaṭṭir, a copyist (KUP, III, 21).

sawwada, taswid = writing, copying. Taswid literally means filling in a blank sheet or space (bayad) with black ink, often in an excessive way, by adding corrections and annotations, hence primarily associated with the production of a rough copy or draft (cf. bayyada). In calligraphic circles it is associated with the work of an apprentice as opposed to a fully fledged calligrapher (SCH, 43 and 171, n. 61).

washá, washy = polychrome illumination (LIS, III, 934: "al-washy fī al-lawn khalt lawn bi-lawn"). Cf. rajja and zabraja.

zabara, zabr; zabbara, tazbīr = writing, copying (MUKH, IV, sifr 13, 5: "zabartuhu azburuhu zabran aw azbiruhu - katabtuhu"; ISM, I, nos. 13, 46B and O; KUP, I, no. 153; "tazbīr wa-tastīr"). Hence mizbar, a calamus (IQT,85) and zābir, a copyist, scribe (SAD, 80). Cf. also Lis, II, 6-7).

zabraja, zibrijah, zibrāj = 1) elegant writing, copying (IQT, 93: "kitābah ḥasanah"). 2) polychrome illumination (LIS, II, 7).

zakhrafa, zakhrafah = 1) elegant writing, copying (IQT, 93: "kitābah hasanah"). 2) polychrome illumination (LIS, II, 17).

zammaka, tazmīk = outlining of a letter by means of a fine line in a color different from it (NIH, pt. 9, 222: "al-tazmīk huwa an yuḥbas al-ḥarf bi-lawn ghayr lawnihi bi-qalam raqīq jiddan"; see also NUW, 127).

zawwara, tazwir, tazwirah = elegant writing, copying (IQT, 93: "kitābah hasanah"; see also Lis, II, 63: 'wa-qala Abū Zayd al-tazwir al-tazwiq wa-al-tahsin wa-zawwartu al-shay' hassantuhu wa-qawwamtuh").

Adam Gacek McGill University

ISRAELI CENSORSHIP ISSUE RECEIVES WIDE EXPOSURE AT ALA CONVENTION

The issue of Israeli censorship and suppression of information received wide exposure recently at the annual convention of the American Library Association, which met in Chicago 23-28 June 1990.

Since January 1990, a campaign, organized by the Committee on Israeli Censorship (CIC), an independent group, has been underway. CIC presented documentation on Israeli censorship to several ALA committees at the ALA Midwinter Conference. As a result, in January ALA's Social Responsibility Round Table passed a strong resolution condemning Israeli censorship and calling on Israel "to abide by universally recognized norms of intellectual freedom and human rights." ALA's International Human Rights Task Force invited Dr. Naseer Aruri, editor and contributor to Occupation: Israel over Palestine, to address its June meeting. Meanwhile ALA's International Relations Committee (IRC) appointed a subcommittee to examine available documentation on Israeli censorship and to report back with recommendations at its June meeting.

From January to May, the CIC assisted the IRC in gathering documentation from a variety of reputable organizations in Israel, the Occupied Territories. Europe and the United States, which the IRC was to examine. Unfortunately, the subcommittee did not function, and was taken over by the only member of the IRC - an outspoken Zionist - who had originally objected to having the IRC look into the situation. Ignoring the small mountain of damning documentation, she recommended that the IRC merely reaffirm a universal commitment to freedom of expression without specifically mentioning any particular country. At its June meeting, however, the IRC rejected this attempt to bury the issue and agreed to appoint a new subcommittee to carry on the investigation, which will undoubtedly be discussed at the 1991 Midwinter Conference. Through the efforts of the CIC, the issue has also been placed on the agenda of the International Relations Round Table and the Asia and Africa Section of the Association of College and Research Libraries (ACRS/AAS), which will also examine the documentation collected by the IRC and report back at their Midwinter meetings.

Dr. Aruri spoke to the June 1990 meeting of ALA's International Human Rights Task Force (IHRTF), outlining the history of Israeli censorship and its current debilitating effects on Palestinian press freedom and on education in the Occupied Territories. On 23 June, Dr. Aruri was the main speaker at a forum on Israeli censorship held at DePaul University's Law There he was joined by Prof. Francis Boyle, specialist in international law at the University of Illinois at Urbana, noted anti-apartheid poet and activist Dennis Brutus, and Mark Rosenzweig of the New York Public Library. The meeting was co-sponsored by the CIC, the National Lawyers Guild, the Progressive Librarians Guild, the Palestine Solidarity Committee, and the Palestine Human Rights Campaign, and drew an enthusiastic audience of nearly 100 people, from the ALA convention as well as the Chicago community. David Williams, CIC coordinator, substituted for Dr. Aruri (who was called out of town due to family illness) at the ACRL/AAS program and presented the issue to the more than sixty librarians in attendance.

The work of the CIC is now solidly established within the IHRTF of ALA and will also be taken up at other ALA meetings, toward the eventual goal of securing a general ALA censorship. As well, the CIC hopes to secure backing to aid Palestinian libraries and educational institutions.

At the January 1991 ALA Midwinter meeting, the CIC plans panels on such issues as the credibility of the documentation amassed on Israeli censorship and the questions to be dealt with in a proper historiographical/bibliographic approach to the Palestinian-Israeli conflict.

In addition to documenting the issue of Israeli censorship in the Occupied Territories and Israel, the CIC seeks documentation on such matters as the Israeli Library Association's stance on such policies, the comparative levels of library services for Israeli Jews versus Arabs within Israel itself, and collection policies for libraries on the subject of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict within Israel itself as well as in the United Sates, particularly any documents on conscious or unconscious censorship of books and periodicals in U.S. libraries which may express a "pro-Palestinian" or "anti-Israeli" point of view.

Anyone who wishes to assist in the campaign or who wants further information should contact:

DAVID L. WILLIAMS
REFERENCE LIBRARIAN
CHICAGO PUBLIC LIBRARY
SOCIAL SCIENCES AND HISTORY DIVISION
400 N. FRANKLIN
CHICAGO IL 60610
PHONE 312-269-2953

Financial contributions may be made to the DataBase Project on Palestinian Human Rights and sent to

THE COMMITTEE ON ISRAELI CENSORSHIP P.O. BOX 3034 CHICAGO IL 60654

David L. Williams Chicago Public Library

ISLAMIC AND MIDDLE EASTERN RESOURCES: A PRELIMINARY SURVEY OF LIBRARY COLLECTIONS IN THE MONTREAL REGION

Introduction

In Canada there were 98,165 Muslims in 1981, according to <u>Census of Canada</u>. Undoubtedly, this number is higher now. Demographers estimated that, in Ontario alone, there were an additional 10,000 Muslim votes in the last Federal election.²

II. A MULTICULTURAL VIEW

For over a century³, Muslims have been part of the Canadian mosaic, coming to learn, to work and to settle. Their numbers have been dramatically increased since the Second World War. This rapid growth is attributed to immigration and a higher birth rate. There are few conversions to Islam in Canada.

Canadian Muslims, a heterogenous group, come from India and Pakistan, Africa, the Middle East and Southeast Asia. These include highly educated westernized professionals, shopkeepers and unskilled laborers, refugees and wealthy expatriates. These different backgrounds are reflected in the approximately 100 mosques scattered across the country. Almost all Muslims adhere strongly to their religion. Islam is an important factor in their well-being. Muslims come from diverse ethnic groupings. There are many variations in nationality, language and attitude. The following table shows the distribution of Muslim Canadians by place of birth⁴:

¹ Rashid, A. <u>The Muslim Canadians: a profile</u>. Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 1985. p. 30.

² Zafar, Said. "Canada lacking on links to Islam." <u>The Globe and Mail</u>, Friday, Jan. 30, 1987. p. A7.

³ Haddad, Y. "Muslims in Canada: a preliminary study." In <u>Religion and Ethnicity</u>, ed. H. Coward and L. Kawamura. Waterloo, ONtario: Wilfred Laurier University Press, 1987. p. 71. Haddad stated that the earliest Muslim she can document coming to Canada was in 1898.

⁴ Rashid, A. Loc. Cit. p. 30.

Table 8. Distribution of Muslim Canadians by Place of Birth, Canada, 1981

Tableau 8. Répartition des Canadiens musulmans selon le lieu de naissance, Canada, 1981

	-1 -	Per cent		
Place of birth	Number	Pourcentage		
Lieu de neissance	Nombre		Foreign-born	
		Total	Nés à l'étranger	
CANADA	22,435	22.9	<u>.</u>	
ASIA - ASIE	34,485	35.1	45.5	
Pakistan	9,420	9.6	12.4	
India - Inde	9,265	9.4	12.2	
Lebanon - Liban	5,395	5.5	7.1	
Iran	2,330	2.4	3.1	
Turkey - Turquie	2,060	2.1	2.7	
Bangladesh	705	0.7	0.9	
Syria - Syrie	625	0.6	0.8	
Israel - Israel	500	0.5	0.7	
Cyprus - Chypre	395	0.4	0.5	
Jordan - Jordanie	385	0.4	0.5	
Ireq - Irek	170	0.2	0.2	
Indonesia - Indonésia	125	0.2	0.2	
Afghanistan	125	0.1	0.2	
Sri Lanka	100	0.1	0.1	
Other - Autres	2 ,88 5	2.9	3.8	
AFRICA - AFRIQUE	28,335	28.9	37.4	
Tanzania - Tanzanie	9,345	9.5	12.3	
Uganda - Ouganda	5,795	5.9	7.7	
Kenya	4,400	4.5	5.8	
Egypt - Égypte	2,835	2.9	3.7	
South Africa - Afrique du Sud	970	1.0	1.3	
Morocco - Maroc	915	0.9	1.2	
Tunisia - Tunisie	805	0.9		
Algeria - Algéria			1.1	
Other - Autres	5 75 2, 695	0.6 2.7	0.8 3.6	
EUROPE	4,400	4,5	5.8	
U.K. and Ireland - Royaume-Uni et Irlande	2,005	2.0	2.6	
Yugoslavia and Albania - Yougoslavie et				
Albanie	1,350	1.4	1.8	
Other - Autres	1,045	1.1	1.4	
AMERICAS - CONTINENT AMÉRICAIN	8,495	8.7	11.2	
West Indies - Antilles	7,800	7.9	10.3	
United States - États-Unis	615	0.6	0.8	
Other - Autres	80	0.1	0.1	
TOTAL P.30	98,165	100.0	100.0	

Source: 1981 Census of Canada. - Recensement du Canada de 1981.

At EXPO 1967 in Montreal, Canada's pavilion was named "Kataimaavik", an Inuit word meaning "place" and so it aptly describes the settlement of This country promotes and encourages multiculturalism. Consequently, this study examines several ethnic groupings coming from over sixty countries.

NATURE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study is to survey the Islamic and Middle Eastern resources in the libraries of Montreal. There are more than 12,120 Muslims in Quebec⁵, with the majority living in the Montreal area. Since we are more familiar with libraries in this area, we decided to do the Montreal region as a pilot project to determine:

- Is there enough Islamic and Middle Eastern material available in the public libraries in the Montreal area?
- Is there enough Islamic and Middle Eastern material
- available in the academic libraries for the Anglophone and Francophone students who are engaged in courses related to this field?
- Is there enough information to orient our libraries to this special category of collection and its users?

METHODOLOGY AND ANALYSES

The survey was conducted in academic, public, business and municipal libraries with the use of bilingual questionnaires designed to secure data. Since McGill University's Islamic Studies Library is a unique library spending 100% of its budget on Islamic and Middle Eastern materials, it was not included in this study. Major Islamic centers' libraries were later surveyed. 183 questionnaires were sent and 93 responses received. Of these responses, 6 were public libraries, 14 academic, 71 special and 2 Islamic centers. The researchers are deeply indebted to those libraries which took the time and effort to respond to our survey, without which this study would not have been possible. We especially appreciated the warm support of those who telephoned with questions that enabled them to respond more accurately to our needs.

In answer to: Do you have materials in the following geographical areas? (131 countries were surveyed, tabulation was as follows):

⁵ *Ibid.*, p. 19.

- * High score came to the Indo-Pakistani countries. This is not surprising, because of the high number of Muslim migrants from this area.
- * Members of the countries of "La Francophonie" were well represented for obvious reasons.

* The score was quite high regarding the Arabic speaking countries, which include a high percentage of Christians among them.

* Montreal libraries do not collect much on Islam in the U.S.S.R., which scored the lowest.

In answer to: What types of materials does your library collect in these areas? these responses were received: Eighteen libraries collect magazines/periodicals in the specified areas; dictionaries, 11; encyclopedias, 10; newspapers, 7; maps, 5; biblographies, 5. Followup showed that only one library has Encyclopedia of Islam.⁸

In answer to: What languages does your library collect?

Arabic material		6 librari	
Yiddish/Hebrew material	6	*	
Turkish material	4	**	
Urdu material	3	**	
Persian material	2	"	

None of the libraries surveyed collected Indonesian material.

We took Arabic language as a sample and the six libraries which collect Arabic are: Bibliotheque Municipale de Montréal; Canadian Centre for Architecture Library; Centre Hospitalier Maisonneuve-Rosemont, Bibliothèque Medical; Collège de l'Immaculée Conception, Bibliothèque de

⁶ Parkes, D. "First generation." <u>The Gazette</u> (Montreal), Sunday, July 23, 1989. p. D3. It is quoted in this article that it is estimated that there are 4,000-5,000 Pakistanis in Montreal.

⁷ "La Francophonie: a fragile alliance." <u>The Gazette</u> (Montreal), Saturday, May 20, 1989. p. B5. <u>The Gazette</u> mentions that at this year's francophone summit which was held in Montreal, three new members appeared: Cameroon, Equatorial Guinea and Cape Verde. This brings the total number of this alliance to 44 countries.

⁸ Bibliotheque Nationale du Quebec has the Encyclopédie de l'Islam.

Théologie; Govt. du Quebec, Ministere des Communautés Culturelles et de l'Immigration, Centre de Documentation; Presbyterian College Library There is not much material collected in Arabic, considering that, in 1984, it was estimated that there were more than 55,000 Quebecers of Arab origin 10, both Muslims and Christians.

In answer to: What aspects of Islam are covered in your collection?

philosophy	13
Qur'ans	12
Prophet Muhammad	10
theology	10
mysticism	7
oral tradition	3

In answer to: What aspects of modern Islam are covered in your collection?

Islamic culture & civilization	18
Islam/general	16
geography	13
history/politics/sociology	12
economics	11
fine arts	10
architecture	9
law	6
agriculture	6
medicine	5
language/literature	5
Muslim sects	4
Islamic technology	4
cookbooks	3
education	3
music	3
mass media	2

None of the libraries surveyed collected books on Islamic libraries.

In answer to: What categories of users consult your Islamic and Middle Eastern material?

⁹ The librarian here reported the following materials: 1983 Christian Bible in Arabic, a Qur'an from the turn of the century, a portion of the Walton Polyglot Bible is in Arabic.

¹⁰ "Montréal-sur-Nil." <u>Le Monde</u>, "Supplement a dossiers et documents", Juin 1984, p. 15.

28 libraries give service to graduates and professors, 17 to undergraduates, 11 to high school students, 9 to the general public, 5 to the media, 5 to the business community, 4 to government offices.

In answer to: Does your library have difficulties in obtaining Islamic and Middle Eastern materials? 28 libraries said they do not have difficulty in obtaining these materials; 2 libraries said they do have difficulties. 11

In answer to: What approximate percentage of your total acquisitions budget is spent on Islamic and Middle eastern materials?

-1 to 1%	majority of libraries surveyed	
2%	1 academic, 2 special	
3%	1 public, 1 special, 2 academic	
4%	1 public	
5%	2 academic	
5-10%	2 special	

In answer to: What classification system do you use in your library?

DDC	19
LCC	10
local	8
NLM	4

Important points to be considered in Quebec:

PUBLIC LIBRARIES

A 358-page report made public in Montreal by Chairman Philippe Sauvageau of the Commission d'étude sur les bibliothèques publiques, reveals that Quebec libraries are at or near the bottom in almost every category of comparison with other Canadian provinces. The findings of this commission reveals that:

Quebec, for instance, has the lowest book ration, 1.56 per resident compared to a 2.2 national average. Ontario's per capita spending on libraries is almost double Quebec's - \$24.70 per year compared to \$13.77. The national average is \$19.30.

The commission notes that 60% of Quebec libraries are in quarters too small for their needs, and 90 of 125 in towns of more than 5,000 people have book inventories well

We are not sure that the 28 libraries mentioned above attempt to buy Islamic materials systematically.

below recommended levels. About 1 million Quebecers have no municipal libraries.

The Quebec government already assumes a greater share of library costs than governments of most other provinces: 26.1% compared to a national average of 20.3%, but the commission says it still should increase its contribution. 12

Such being the grim state of public libraries in Quebec, there are undoubtedly matters other than Islamic materials which urgently need to be considered. On the other hand, the needs of the various ethnic communities are important and should not be ignored!

Twenty seven Muslim students using the Islamic Studies Library were asked: In what way or capacity has the Islamic Studies Library benefited you? 7 said it made it easier for them to adjust, 9 easier to study, 11 easier for them to adjust in Quebec.

Manuel Lopez in her article "Chinese spoken here: foreign language library orientation tours" finds that, given the right opportunity, foreign students become heavy library users, grateful for the special effort made to alleviate cultural shock. Therefore, understanding the needs of different ethnics is library users, is essential.

Brossard region has the highest Indo-Pakistani concentration. Brossard Public Library does not have these books (<u>Last four years of Urdu in Britain</u> Britain's community languages , Sharing our

¹² "Public libraries need 170 million: Quebec study." <u>The Gazette</u> (Montreal), Wednesday, July 8, 1987. p. 4.

College and Research Library News 44 (Sept. 1983). p. 265, 268-69.

¹⁴ Usually Muslim users are shy, diffident and reluctant to ask for help in the use of libraries.

¹⁵ Hall, Edward T. "Learning the Arab's silent language," <u>Psychology Today</u> 13:48 (Aug. 1979) p. 45-54. See also Lewis, Mary Genevieve. "Library orientation for Asian college students," <u>College and Research libraries</u> 30 (May 1969). p. 267-272.

¹⁶ Molteno, M. London: Centre for Information on Language Teaching and Research, 1986.

languages 18) or this type of material. It is time to start these types of educational programs 19 and activities and to equip our libraries with such materials before it is too late. We have to bridge the gap between children being educated in Quebec schools and their parents.

It is essential the Quebec authorities direct their policies in two ways: strengthening cultural identity as a condition for the healthy intercultural processes which must be a part of integration.

ACADEMIC LIBRARIES

The development of Islamic studies in the Francophone institutions has experienced difficulties.

Dr. Charles J. Adams in his article "The Development of Islamic Studies in Canada" ²⁰, noted that the government of Quebec did not fulfill its intention to establish a chair of Persian studies at Laval University. Adams continues pointing out the difficulties, by stating that, although Université de Montréal has a program of Arab studies whose emphasis is on politics and recent developments in the Arab world, it has only one professor with faculty status; the other, who is charged with teaching Arabic and Islamic history, has the status of a *chargé du cours*. ²¹ Adams reiterates these difficulties in the case of Université du Quebec a Montreal where there has been an effort to set up a program of Arab studies, with a strictly practical focus; the Quebec authorities rejected the proposed program.

¹⁷ Russell, R. Islamabad: National Language Authority, 1986.

¹⁸ Yousuf, Q. London: South Norwood Adult Education Centre, Croydon English Language Scheme, [between 1980 and 1988].

¹⁹ "Ethnic groups will be profiled in new Montreal publication", <u>The Gazette</u> (Montreal), Saturday, March 25, 1989. Viviane Ducheine, the coordinator of Montreal's intercultural bureau plans to publish profiles of the various ethnic communities that live in Montreal. This type of publication will be a step in the right direction.

²⁰ In <u>The Muslim Community in North America</u>, ed. Earle Waugh *et al*. Edmonton: University of Alberta Press, 1983. p. 193-194.

²¹ Status of *chargé du cours* means that the person is not a regular full-time member of the university faculty and receives minimal compensation only.

Besides Université de Montréal, the only other place where students in French Canada can gain knowledge of the Islamic and Middle Eastern world is at McGill's Institute of Islamic Studies and its library. These important institutions were founded with the aid of grant money from the Ford and Rockefeller foundations; recently, financial assistance has come from the Aga Khan Foundation and from the Government of Canada. Therefore, the academic libraries in the Montreal region with a sizeable Islamic and Middle Eastern collection are the Islamic Studies Library and McLennan Library of McGill University. The Islamic Studies Library, housed on three floors at Morrice Hall, with a collection of approximately 100,000 volumes, is a large collection with a rather small staff to service its users. It is an academic library which also acts as a public library in the Montreal region:

- * fulfilling the Francophone and Anglophone universities' educational needs:
- helping the Quebec media;
- helping Quebec's business community and government;
- * serving the needs of the large number of highly educated Muslim immigrants, coming from diverse ethnic origins;
- * guiding both Francophone and Anglophone CEGEP students.

Our survey indicates that libraries in the Montreal area are not equipped linguistically and culturally to handle these types of users. Since education in Quebec is a provincial responsibility, it would seem appropriate for the Quebec government to give financial aid to the Islamic Studies library for services and for building the collection.

LIBRARIES OF THE: ISLAMIC CENTERS

These libraries collect materials on the teaching of Islam as a religion to the children and young adults of the community. They have books in Arabic and Urdu languages and they collect materials on religious subjects only: Qur'ans, the Prophet Muhammad, theology and Islam in general. They do not collect on individual Islamic countries. The collections are small in size and rely mainly on donations. Many Muslim Canadians agree that these centers could be more effective as fund raisers and lobbying groups, both in Quebec and Ottawa, for the purpose of obtaining funds for their libraries as well as community projects.

SURVEY WEAKNESSES

* Lack of funding, hence lack of followup. After conducting this survey, we were to evaluate the collections of each of the libraries that

have responded to the questionnaire. We would have gained a more accurate understanding of the scope, depth and utility o the collections. Because of lack of funding, we decided to do the evaluation at a later date.

- * Lack of awareness, knowledge and support. Also, there is a public misunderstanding and indifference towards Islam.
- Lack of communication.
- Political nature of the subject matter becomes a hindrance.
- * Low awareness of the importance of libraries, hence the few grants allocated for research in the field of library science.
- * Low governmental awareness, at both federal and provincial levels, perhaps because the needs and demands of the Muslim communities are not articulated to these bodies.
- * Middle Eastern materials need not deal only with Muslims and Islamic countries, but also with Christians and Jews.
- * Even today, "Middle East" conjures up fantasies with flying carpet, belly dancers and <u>A thousand and one nights.</u>

SURVEY STRENGTHS

- Potential for bibliographic networking/resource sharing.
- Makes this field more visible.
- Articulates needs and focuses on future goals.
- * Facilitates communications.
- * Provides information and insight into the Islamic and Middle Eastern materials and their value within the multicultural setting.
- * Heightens the awareness of both federal and provincial governments as to the importance of lending financial support to libraries.
- * Increases Quebec libraries awareness of this category of collection and its users.

CONCLUSIONS

This is a preliminary survey. A great deal more work is required to evaluate the condition and quality of this collection for Quebec as a whole. This paper deals not only with library science, but also with education, population and ethnicity. Further research is needed in order to make this study a report.

Any suggestions and feedback for improving the further stages of this investigation will be highly appreciated.

Salwa Ferahian and John Leide McGill University

[BLANK PAGE]

PRINCETON UNIVERSITY LIBRARY ARABIC BOOK PRESERVATION PROJECT

Firestone Library at Princeton University features one of the largest collections of Arabic books and manuscripts in the United States. The University set out to distinguish itself by dedicating its resources to and focusing academically on a few areas of specialized studies: one such area is the Near East or Arab Islamic world.

Princeton's Arabic collection, on a par with those of Harvard University and the Library of Congress, was developed by Lebanese scholar Philip Hitti, who, while teaching Semitic languages at Princeton in the early part of the century, founded the Near East Studies department and devoted his personal and professional life to strengthening the department. Hitti called upon his considerable network of Arab and American friends and scholars to contribute books and manuscripts to the department's burgeoning library. Among them are the books of the Egyptian scholar Ahmad Zaki Abu Shadi, who also assisted Hitti with the first catalog of Arabic manuscripts in the Princeton University Library.

Firestone Library owns about 10,000 Arabic manuscripts on topics ranging from Islamic thought to medicine and scientific theory.

The Arabic printed book collection, some 90,000 volumes, stored for the most part in Firestone Library, dates mostly from the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Almost three-quarters of the collection is printed on highly acidic paper made from wood pulp. A substantial number of books already have reached a point of deterioration where they will crumble with only one more use. Before those volumes become unreadable, thereby making their contents lost forever, Firestone Library has embarked on an ambitious preservation microfilming project, to preserve those at greatest risk.

In July 1989, the National Endowment for the Humanities awarded Princeton University Library \$600,000 to begin microfilming crumbling Arabic books. Project librarians estimate that the grant will permit the library to microfilm some 9,000 books, or about ten percent of the book collection. The project is the first of its kind in the United States for preserving Arabic books. By January 1990, the project was fully staffed with an Arabic-speaking librarian, who is also a Near East specialist, and two native Arabic-speaking support staff.

Support staff came to the project with previous library work experience. Training was facilitated by introducing them to actual components of the project from the very beginning.

Using the project's Macintosh SE/30 with bilingual Arabic and English software, the staff began by entering the collection's shelf list, to serve as the project's data base. So far, over 11,000 titles have been entered. Alternating with data entry, the staff conduct preservation surveys of the titles entered, in search of those items in the most critical condition.

The survey consists of two parts: first, the staff double fold the corners of randomly selected pages to determine the paper's degree of brittleness. Then the staff mark a page with an archivist's pen to determine the paper's degree of acidity. From the 11,000 titles now in the data base, the survey has shown that over 40% of them are brittle and over 60% contain highly acidic paper.

Because of the project's enormous scope, Firestone Library is using Mid-Atlantic Preservation Services to perform the microfilming. Based in Bethlehem, Pa., MAPS is a not-for-profit corporation devoted only to preservation work and is funded through the Pew Charitable Trust. MAPS using RLG specifications when microfilming for academic and archival institutions.

To prepare the books for microfilming at MAPS, the Princeton staff must:

- 1) Locate and identify brittle books;
- 2) Group the books in batches totalling no more than 2,000 pages;
- 3) Charge out the batches in the GEAC Circulation system;
- 4) Box the books for shipment to MAPS.

The Macintosh has been very useful, not only for creating forms needed for the packing and microfilming process, but also for keeping records of which titles have been sent to MAPS and which have been returned.

Once the books have been returned from MAPS, staff must then inspect the films for density and resolution quality, as well as legibility of the text on the film. Once the film passes inspection, the books are then discharged on the circulation system. The preservation librarian then examines the volumes to decide which books to discard and which are to be returned to the shelf. Then those books and films are sent to the Near East Cataloging Team, where RLIN records are created.

On September 1, 1990, the project completed its first year on the threeyear NEH grant. The team has been successful in keeping to the timetable set up in the original project proposal.

In addition to the Arabic preservation project, Firestone Library is also in the third year of a parallel project for Turkish books, funded through RLG, also managed by the writer.

Hedi BenAicha Princeton University Library

VERNACULAR ACCESS TO TITLES IN HEBREW SCRIPT AT THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES

At the 1988 MELA annual program in Los Angeles, Dr. Dona Straley and I¹ described how, with the use of a Macintosh-SE and appropriate software, we succeeded in improving productivity and providing innovative bibliographic services for Hebrew and Arabic language materials. At that time we mentioned that, while we were successful in displaying the vernacular script in book lists and processing forms, we still could not manipulate the data in the vernacular. We could not search or sort in the vernacular script.

The continued absence of vernacular capabilities in the on-line catalog at The Ohio State University Libraries, the inferior capabilities of OCLC², and our perception of the need to provide vernacular access to books in Hebrew script drove us to look for solutions outside the University Libraries' automation efforts. The goal was to provide—in addition to the on-line catalog where Hebrew titles can be searched using the Library of Congress romanization scheme—a way to search a database of titles in the vernacular via computer. The constraints in seeking a solution were: no new equipment, no money for programming, and limited funds for software.

This meant we had to find a solution using the Mac-SE that we already had. A survey of available software suggested that the Safran 3 software together with the Folder Blesser 4 program might allow us to achieve our goal. The Safran product is a combination of Reflex Plus: The Database Manager 5, used with a Hebrew System File, thus allowing some fields to be in Hebrew script while others are in Roman characters. In order to fully understand the capabilities of this software one should refer to the Reflex Plus manual. In my description, I will try to demonstrate how to use the basic functions in order to create a mixed script database.

The Blesser software allows the Macintosh to be booted from numerous system folders. This creates the opportunity to have a Hebrew Macintosh or an Arabic Macintosh or a Japanese Macintosh, if you have the appropriate language system folder.⁵

Once you have started your Macintosh using the Hebrew System Folder,

This paper was originally presented at the 1989 MELA annual program in Toronto, Canada, November 1989.

hebrew_catalog
call number
RecordNumber#
author
Title
romanized_title
language
nf
country
city
publisher
date
volumes
edition '
location
authorHebrew
NOTES
subject

Illus. 1

call_numbe author	or	
romanized title publisher		мшіз
edi 🔲	NOTES Number#	
date	city	
lang ı	nf location vol. country	
מחבר		
כותר		

Illus. 2

call_number PREH21823 author Tan-Pai, Yoshua, 1914romanized Shire ha-hoshekh veha-re'ut title ишп publisher Mahbarot le-sifrut edi NOTES 78 Number# date city Tel-Aviv 1942 lang HEB nf location MAI vol. country IS טן פי, יהושע מחבר שירי החשך והראות כותר

רשימת ספרים חדשים

יובי1990

לשון וספרות

uam	בותר	ם חבר	CALL NUMBER
1990	אגדת-חסגדל וראשו בשסים: רוסן	אבני, ש.	PREH23024
1989	אחבת דניאל	קרון, תמר	PREH23006
	אסצע : מבחר שירים 1980-1990	אלירז, ישראל	PREH23032
1964	את את ואני כזה	שמיון, יחודית	PREH23057
1902	בית-ספר עברי	גרזובסקי, יחודה	PREH23056
1963	בססטאות צפת	משני, ישמיחו	PREH23060
1955	ברק בבקר : שירים	גולדברג, לאח	PREH23062
	בשבילי הביבר : משלים וסטירות	שמפוני, דוד	PREH23058

Call PREH23060

author 'Ashani, Yesha'yahu

בסמטאות צפת

title Be-simta'ot Tsefat : sipurim...

city Tsefat <u>publ</u> Sifriyat Tsefat

date 1963 edition

ig HEB nf vol locat MAI country IS

מחבר עשני, ישעיהו

קטלוג הספרים המברים מסודר לפי א-ב כותרים

סספר מיון	מחבר	בותר
DS135P63B591976	בלום, לעאן	ו גמשאנקמן למבן
PREH22480	איש-שלום, סיכאל	ו.ד. גורדון, י. ת. ברנר, יוסף
PJ5054K6Z8A21988		ובא קובנר : סבחר מאסרי ביקורת על
PJ5054K6Z8A31988		ובא קובנר, שבעים שנח לחולדתו
DS115.9W57F731969	סרנקל, אליחו	ובות וצאצאים של ר' סשח
PREH23041	בן-צבי, י.	ובי גדור : סיפור חיסטורי
DS126.6D3D381461986	דייון, יעל	ובי, בתו
PREH22912	שיץ, דוד	ובישג
PREH21960	בק, יורם	ובן חשתיח
PREH22662		ובן ספיר : ססעותיו הפופלאים של ר'
BS1235I21983	אבן עזרא, אברחם בן סאיר	ובן עזרא על חתורה עם סירוש אוצר
DS126.7S561986	שניצר, שמואל	ובני יסוד
PJ5054B276A961988	בר-און, שסעון	ובני בדלח
PREH22879	חזק, יחיאל	ובני-בזלת : שירים
DS110W47M571989		ובנים זה לא חבל : חאינתיסאדה ונשק
PREH22988	רונן, אברחם	מברחם אופק
PREH21972		וברחם ברום איש שטיים
PJ5054T39A971989	תלפו, גדעון	ובשלום וחנזיר
GR981891988	יצחקי, ארית	נגדה של סקום
PREH21987		נגדה של פלייה : יחודי אתיופיה
BM516A331985		וגדות ארץ-ישראל וירושלים
PREH22322	גרין, דרור	וגדות חאינתיסאדח
PREH22032	חנאואר, ג'ייסס אדוארד	וגדות פארץ חקודש

you are ready to create a database that can have fields in either Roman or Hebrew script. The first step is to open the program Reflex Plus and to name and design the database. Reflex Plus, when used with a Hebrew System Folder, allows the creation of both Hebrew and Roman fields; this is the basis for the ability to search and sort in non-Roman alphabets. After selecting and defining the various fields for the database (see Illus. 1). you move on to create the entry form. The actual entry of data is done in the entry form (see Illus. 2) When designing an entry form, the user can define the font and language of each field: all searching and sorting of that field will be done according to this designation. In Illus, 2, the last two fields were designated as Hebrew text fields. In every record entered in the database, the data in these 2 fields will be supplied in Hebrew script (see Illus. 3). The records are created and entered into the database as part of the daily operations of the Jewish Studies Section in the OSU Libraries. When new books arrive, a record is created for each book; the call number field is used for the assigned accession number (see Illus. 3). The books are then sent to the Catalog Department; after they are cataloged, the record is updated to reflect the changes in various fields that have been added during the cataloging process.

The report-creating capability of Reflex Plus is the source of the New Book Lists (see Illus. 4 and 5), sent monthly to the faculty, and of the processing slips needed by the Acquisitions and Catalog departments. The report-writing capability also allows us to produce book catalogs of the Hebrew and Yiddish collections (see Illus. 6).

Amnon Zipin Ohio State University Libraries

- 1. See also Straley, Dona S. and Amnon Zipin, "Increasing productivity and public satisfaction with Middle East and Judaic library services through the use of a personal computer:, <u>MELA Notes</u> 47 (Spring 1989): 33-35.
- 2. OCLC does not display or store either Hebrew or Arabic characters. In 1977, OCLC promised to develop Hebrew capability, but never did.
- "Librarian" in Hebrew
- 4. Dave McGary. The Folder Blesser. 1987.
- 5. A product of Borland International
- 6. Various system folders are available from Apple Developers Association.

INFORMATION ON THE COLLECTING OF MIDDLE EASTERN MATERIALS FROM AN ANALYSIS OF THE RLIN DATABASE

Recently the Research Libraries Group has begun to analyze the content of the RLIN database. In the process we have found that RLIN is the largest database of bibliographic records for Middle Eastern language materials in the world. This gives us the opportunity to analyze some of the statistics gathered in this work. We must realize that the statistics given are for cataloging represented in RLIN from the members of the Research Libraries Group. As such, my remarks are valid only to the point that the statistics fully represent current acquisitions for that group of libraries.

Many of the major collections of Middle Eastern materials are represented (Princeton, Yale, Columbia, New York University, University of Michigan, University of Pennsylvania, New York Public Library, Berkeley and, of course, the Library of Congress).

The following tables list the number of titles in the books format by language and era of publication, and the country of publication by era.

TABLE I -- Number of books titles by language and era of publication

Language	17/18	190-	191-	192-	193-	194-	195-	196-	197-	198-	199	Totals
												
Arabic	528	1135	165	302	499	411	1180	7076	18308	40724	585	71343
Armenian	211	89	78	87	93	115	304	809	1194	1568	12	4573
Berber	3	1	0	0	0	1	3	1	6	9	1	25
Hebrew	12342	3091	2195	3713	3769	5530	8141	17604	24000	35710	659	117779
Judeo-Per	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	2	5	0	9
Judeo-Ara	25	34	5	12	7	12	8	3	5	7	0	119
Kabyle	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	3
Kurdish	1	1	0	0	0	2	4	13	9	15	0	47
Ottoman T	B13	296	592	463	8	2	6	2	21	25	1	2285
Persian	185	141	48	63	115	244	869	2337	6231	7006	38	17477
Turkish	175	129	64	68	421	806	902	2342	5820	8 307	618	19723

Page 44

TABLE II -- Number of books titles by country and era of publication

•												
Country	17/18	190-	191	192-	193-	194-	195-	196-	197-	198-	199-	Totals
Algeria	186	- <u>-</u> -	71	93	122	147	249	230	728	1374	0	3321
Armenia	13	23	6	7	17	63	271	856	1294	1897	51	4531
Bahrain	0	2	0	0	0	0	2	9	66	107	0	189
Gaza	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	3	0	6
Iraq	22	49	9	22	34	38	152	684	1636	2014	33	4705
Iran	272	124	37	48	110	262	944	2535	6470	7289	16	18293
Israel	470	5 93	245	1140	2135	35 5 6	5897	15423	23032	35747	645	89425
Jordan	0	10	1	2	5	4	11	71	. 268	1686	6	2075
Kuwait	0	16	0	0	0	0	5	86	455	1378	10	1963
Lebanon	80	227	31	49	85	107	382	2026	5363	10595	126	19153
Libya	0	8	1	14	14	6	15	115	379	576	1	1140
Oman	1	2	0	0	0	0	2	1	35	250	-0	296
Morocco	13	76	9	56	133	150	272	316	849	1927	0	3841
Qatar	0	2	0	0	1	1	0	2	27	284	3	321
Sp Morocc	0 0	0	0	2	2	2	0	1	2	21	0	30
Sudan	0	13	3	フ	5	10	55	163	B10	666	0	1769
S Arabia	9	51	31	25	17	15	9	102	439	2301	3	3021
Syria	27	83	22	3 3	39	42	119	353	1276	2109	13	4157
Tunisia	51	97	45	83	97	148	154	309	953	1254	Ó	3241
UAE	4	3	0	0	0	0	0	5	36	116	5	175
Turkey	1335	437	704	604	458	688	982	2613	6233	8382	186	22954
Egypt	368	602	262	475	769	490	1055	4715	7005	12918	75	28854
West Bank	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	12	0	16
Yemen, N	2	3	0	1	0	1	0	15	43	145	0	212
Yemen, S	3	0	0	2	2	0	2	۲	15	60	0	91

^{*}The totals column will not always equal the sum of the numbers in the dated columns. The total also includes a count of titles for which the date was not given, or is uncertain.

There are probably no major surprises in the tables. The earlier periods are under-represented as this is a count of those titles in machine readable form, and typically, the titles in Middle Eastern collections have not been the target of concerted retrospective conversion.

It would be interesting to compare the above tables with tables of the publication records for the represented languages and countries. Only the decades of the seventies and eighties would represent a true snapshot of the current collecting habits of our country's Middle Eastern collections. One notable comparison is in the language table under Arabic. Compare the 197-and 198- columns (18,308 and 40,724). It appears here that we have had an explosion of publication and that we have been particularly diligent in our collecting efforts.

If we look at the country of publication table, perhaps we can see a pattern to explain some of this. Note the figures for the same decades (1970's and 1980's) for Egypt, Morocco, Syria, Tunisia, Saudi Arabia, and Iraq. They all show a sizeable increase between the decades. This would appear to indicate a big increase in acquisitions activity from these countries. Even the numbers from the two Yemens and the UAE show a modest increase. All of this can be attributed to the increase in availability of publications through various means of acquisitions (exchange, dealers, LC cooperative programs, etc.).

Two conclusions we can draw from the tables are: 1) there is a strong need for retrospective conversion of our Middle East collections; and 2) we are doing a better job of collecting now than we did ten years ago.

The questions we need to ask are: 1) in each case, do the numbers represent the complete set of publications of research value; 2) are there significant numbers of publications that are not being acquired by North American libraries; 3) if so, what are they; and 4) how can we acquire them?

John A. Eilts Research Libraries Group, Inc.

BOOK REVIEWS

Index Islamicus, 1665-1905: A bibliography of articles on Islamic subjects in periodicals and other collective publications. Compiled by W. H. Behn. Millersville, Pa.: Adıyok, 1989. Pp. xxx + 869. \$125. [Available from Adıyok, Rosenheimer Str. 5, D-1000 Berlin 30]

The Index Islamicus is perhaps the foremost bibliographic resource available to scholars of Islamic studies, in particular, but also to Orientalists, in general, because its original compiler, J. D. Pearson, defined Islamic studies so broadly. In addition to listing articles on Islam, the religion and its immediately related subjects: theology, law, philosophy, and science, the full spectrum of cognate subjects within the associated geographical extremes is afforded comprehensive treatment. Within the Arab world, Iran, Turkey, Afghanistan, Central Asia. South and South East Asia, and Europe, coverage includes Comparative Semitics, Arabic, Persian and other Iranian, Turkish, and Berber languages and literatures and the histories, cultures, and geographies of these areas and their peoples. Not only are Western European language periodicals, series publications, and collective works indexed, access to the contents of a number of Eastern European language titles is also provided. Pearson's Index Islamicus, 1906-1955, lists 510 periodicals, 120 Festschriften, and 70 congress proceedings and other collective works from which he selected 26,076 numbered entries. The material is arranged according to a subject classification scheme, in which there are 43 broad categories and numerous subgroups. The scheme is helpfully presented at the beginning of the volume. In addition, there is an author index. Accordingly, access to the material is gained by classification category and subclass and by author.

As useful as Index Islamicus, 1906-1955, its supplements (1956-60, 1956-60, 1961-65, 1966-70, 1971-75, 1976-80:1-2 [pt. 2, monographs, was compiled by W. H. Behn], 1981-1985:1-2 forthcoming, late 1990), and quarterly updates (beginning in 1976 and up to January, 1990) have been, there are a few significant omissions or faults which reduce its

usefulness. 1

Index Islamicus has not ventured into the province of Arabic, Persian, or Turkish language periodical coverage, as valuable as such an extension could be. For the period of coverage of Pearson's first volume, 1906-55, the limitation to European languages does not produce a great loss, since. it has been argued, the bulk of oriental publication was not scientific from a western point of view. The point at which non-western scholarship on Islamic subjects begins to be recognized as scientifically sound and therefore of value to the western researcher, namely, after the Second World War, is roughly where the first volume ends it coverage. Now, of course, the reverse is true, and non-western scholarship cannot be overlooked without serious consequence, and the omission (in the supplements) can be considered a serious problem.2 Yet, as the compiler points out in his introduction (p. vii) to the 1906-1955 volume, the intention of the work is not bibliographical completeness; rather the work claims only to be a catalogue that provides access to one kind of publication in western languages.

The elaborate classification system, under which the material is arranged, consists of broad and narrow headings and subheadings. It is at first difficult to use and prone to inconsistency. It should be kept in mind that it is no more than a classification system and does not provide true subject access to the material listed, despite its subject approach. The access it offers could be compared to that the researcher gains to monograph titles by use of the library's shelf list; or by browsing with a classification table in hand. Indeed, the system's elaborateness can be a hindrance to access when multiple topics are treated or the

Reviews of Index Islamicus, 1906-1955, include, among others, R. Blachere in Arabica 6 (1959):333; Herbert W. Duda in Wiener Zeitschrift fur die Kunde des Morgenlandes 55 (1959) 211-12; Johann Fuck in Zeitschrift der Deutschen Morgenlandischen Gesellschaft 109 (1959): 427-28; and Franz Rosenthal in Journal of the American Oriental Society 80 (1960):147-48.

To a certain extent, the problem is alleviated by such indexes or bibliographies as al-Fihrist (1981-), Fihrist-i magalat-i Farsi dar matbu'at-i Jumhuri-i Islami-i Iran, and Turkiye Makeleler Bibliografyası (1952-).

article's approach to the topic is somehow equivocal. Nevertheless, within the limitations of the system, access can be quite reliable, once the user becomes thoroughly familiar with its use.

While Pearson's coverage of the Arab world is impressive, Islam and the cognate subjects in South and Southeast Asia receive less comprehensive treatment.

The work under review, compiled by W. H. Behn and covering the years 1665-1905, represents a methodological continuation of the original volumes and an improvement. With an exception or two, it continues the original classification scheme. Indexed are 675 periodical titles (including monographic series), 39 collective works (mostly Festschriften), and 60 congress volumes for a total of some 21,000 entries plus another 1,000 references to unlisted items. In addition, partial runs of 13 other serial publications were examined. Among the notable improvements is the entry of items under the names of their authors (rather than the editors of the texts) as established in The National Union Catalog: Pre-1956 Imprints. Such standardization of form of entry is certainly helpful. Behn has also provided references to citations in the standard bio-bibliographical works, such as Brockelmann, Sezgin, and Storey. Besides the author index, the work also is provided with a "Subject Index" (pp. 807-21), which, since the subject classification remains mostly unchanged, is applicable to other volumes of Index Islamicus. Yet, the subject index is not really a true subject index by which the user can find subjects directly linked to relevant entries. Rather, it is an alphabetical rearrangement of the classification system ("Arrangement of the Material") as presented on pages xxv-xxx. Subject headings, with numerous cross references, are linked to the heading and subheading numbers in the scheme. Nevertheless, the subject index is useful and helps the user gain further familiarity with the system of classification.

Although it might be asking too much too late, a completely different approach to subject access to the entries, in which each item is assigned a term or two controlled by some accepted standard (e.g., LC subject headings or some other relevant thesaurus of "descriptors"), would be far more useful. Such a system would provide direct subject access to the entries. It might be argued, however, that this alternate subject access system would be cumbersome to use in paper format. In a machine

environment, however, in which the entries would have been entered into a data base, not only would direct subject access would be fast and convenient, but keyword, author, article and journal title, etc., searching capability would bring the Index Islamicus into the modern era. With that said, this reviewer wonders why, in this computer age, did Mr. Behn not produce this most useful bibliographic work in electronic format. Given the relatively inadequate coverage of Islamic studies provided by the major general bibliographic utilities, such as BRS, Wilson, and Dialog, it seems not unreasonable to ask that the entire Index Islamicus be converted into an electronic format, or, at least, that those parts produced with a computer be made available to someone with the expertise, willingness, and funding, so that they could be reformated into a searchable database.

Here are offered a few random observations:

A sampling of the entries in Arabic language (36a-h, Semitics, grammar, syntax, writing, prosody, and lexicography), Religion (24-6, Muhammad, Koran, and Hadith) revealed the following not unexpected statistic: 31% of the cited articles come from the first 200 years of coverage, while 69% were published in that last 40 years.

Coverage, in terms of pages devoted to particular geographic regions, looks like this: The Arab world consumes 52% of the pages, as against 48% for Turkey, Iran, India, Afghanistan, Central Asia, Caucasus, Crimea, the Mongols, and Southeast Asia, and Europe. In terms of pages devoted to languages and literatures, Arabic takes up 43% versus 57% for Iranian, Turkish, and Berber. The significance of these statistical observations is unclear. Either the Arab world has received more scholarly attention, or coverage of Index Islamicus is biased in favor of the Arab world.

This Index Islamicus, replete with the names of illustrious early orientalists, is also, in way, a work on the history of Oriental studies (and Orientalism) in the western world. It is characteristic of the compiler's resourcefulness that he has managed to resurrect journal titles long forgotten or not particularly known for Orientalist scholarship, such as Asiatic (or Asiatick) Researches (1799-18??), Miscellanea Aegyptiana (Alexandria 1842), Asiatic Miscellany (Calcutta 1785-86). From Fleischer, Flgel, Lane, Salisbury, Sprenger, Sylvestre de Sacy, Toy, and von Hammer-Purgstall to Brockelmann,

Goldziher, Guidi, Mller, Noldeke, Praetorius, Trumpp, Wellhausen, and Wstenfeld, all the major players in early Oriental scholarship are represented in this vast volume.

The entries in this <u>Index Islamicus</u> are not numbered. The lack of numbers makes the author index, especially when dealing with voluminous authors, easy to use, since the user is refered to page numbers after names rather than to long (four and five digits) and cumbersome entry numbers.

A few minor problems were observed and may be pointed out here: On page 707, 36e, Brockelmann's entry might better belong in the preceding section. Grammar, rather than Syntax. There are some typeface inconsistencies: the typeface of August Fischer's entry on page 709 is unusual and looks like a cut and paste job? There is some problem in the printing of diacritics in the names of authors written in caps. Superior marks, with exception of umlaut, are missing, while inferior marks are printed. There seems to be inconsistency in the use of boldface type in the titles of serial publications. Often, only the first word of the title is in bold, but also frequently, one or more additional words are in bold. Sometimes journal titles are abbreviated, other times they are not (JA and Journal asiatique). On the added title page in Arabic, the date of beginning coverage should read 1665, not 1655. These are all minor criticisms which do not significantly detract from this ambitious and successful work. Thanks to the painstaking labors of Mr. Behn (and before him as well of J. D. Pearson, W. A. Lockwood, and G. J. Roper) we now have at our disposal a resource that provides comprehensive coverage of Islamic and Oriental studies from the very beginning almost up to the present.

> Jonathan Rodgers University of Michigan

Nosseir, Aida Ibrahim. <u>Arabic Books Published in Egypt in the Nineteenth Century</u>. Cairo: American University in Cairo Press, 1990. 403 pp. Text in Arabic.

This bibliography covers Egyptian imprints from 1822 until 1900. It consists of 10,045 titles by about 2,000 authors, co-authors, compilers, editors and translators from Egypt and the rest of the Arab or Muslim world. Approximately 30% to 35% of them are second or third editions. Many titles have over 20 editions listed in the bibliography.

The compiler, Dr. Aida Nosseir, a librarian at the American University in Cairo, has also published two similar volumes covering the period between 1900 and 1940. With <u>Guide to Egyptian Imprints, 1940-1956</u> (Cairo, 1974) by Ahmad Mansur et al. and <u>Nashrāt al-idā (1956-)</u>, the three volumes by Dr. Nosseir include the bulk, if not all, of the Egyptian imprints from 1822-when Egyptians printed their own first book--up to the present time. This is indeed a remarkable achievement for Dr. Nosseir and those who complemented her works, as such an accomplishment is still lacking in the rest of the Arab world.

What makes the present bibliography significant is not only its novelty but also its great wealth of literature. It represents a good deal of the intellectual, legal, historical, religious, and other records of Egypt's transformation from a traditional form of society toward a modern, or semi-modern, one. It also includes a great proportion of the classical literature in all fields, especially in Sufism which was widely popular throughout the nineteenth century in Egypt and all of the Muslim world.

This bibliography has been organized in several ways to provide multiple access. The main segment is classified according to a modified version of the Dewey Decimal System (DDS). The modification was necessary to accommodate the various branches of Islamic sciences. Several indexes have been provided: author, editor, title, plus a detailed subject index to complement the main segment.

In addition to these useful indexes, we find an elaborate table of contents, a preface by Mahmud Shiniti and a three-page introduction by the compiler. From these introductory materials we learn that this bibliography was used by Dr. Nosseir in her Ph.D. dissertation on publishing in

nineteenth century Egypt, which she submitted to the Faculty of Arts (Cairo University?) in 1987. We also learn that the contents of the bibliography are stored in a word processor. The text has been produced from copy printed by a dot matrix printer.

It is evident that a great deal of time was spent to produce this bibliography, but it is a seriously flawed work. Below I will point out some of the problems in four categories and follow up with a few recommendations for improvements. It is my hope that Dr. Nosseir will consider these suggestions for the sake of improving her highly useful and significant bibliography.

In regard to the main portion of the bibliography (pp. 1-262), which is classified in DDS, it appears that the compiler is either unfamiliar with the various aspects of Islamic sciences, or that she was careless in assigning proper subject headings for a good portion of her material. Some examples:

1) Under the heading al-Aḥkām al-sulṭāniyah (i.e., the administration of an Islamic state), we find lbn Arabi's major text Fuṣūṣ al-hikam, which is in the field of Sufism. A similar work by the same author, al-Futuhāt al-Makkiyah is classed under the Malikiyah school of jurisprudence. This is also true of al-Sha rāni's famous text on Sufism: al-Mizān al-kubrā, which is found in the general Figh section.

2) Most of the books listed under the heading Islamic philosophy are major texts on Sufism or are prayer books. This includes al-Huşn al-hasin by Ibn al-Jazari, Khazinat al-asrar by Haqqi al-Nāzili, Jawāhir al-maanī by Ali Hirazim and Rimāh hizb al-hakīm by Umar al-Fūti. What this means is that the compiler does not distinguish Islamic philosophy from Sufism, two subjects which are contradictory in nature and orientation.

3) Under the heading *Usūl al-fiqh* (sources of jurisprudence), we find the text of <u>al-Durar al-sanivah</u> (no author), which is about the Wahhabiyah sect, and has no sources on jurisprudence.

4) In the field of history, there are several incorrect classifications. For example, the famous nineteenth century text on reform, <u>Aqwam almasalik</u> by Khayr al-Din al-Tunisi, is classified under <u>Egypt-History</u>, <u>Ayyubid period</u>. Equally inaccurate is a book about French history which is identified as being on British history. (See #9/480)

5) The compiler made two headings for the Muslim holy book: one under Koran and one under Mushaf, as if they were different.

The names of authors and editors contain a variety of errors and shortcomings:

1) There is a lack of consistency in establishing names. Although we know that some authors are known by their first names and others by their last names or their kunyahs or laqabs, it would be useful to cross-

reference these names to make access easier. However, Dr. Nosseir does not seem to have any consistent system. For example, the Muslim master jurist al-Shafi'i is entered as al-Imam al-Shafi'i, while another equally significant Muslim jurist, Abu Hanifah al-Nu'man is entered under Abu Hanifah. Also, the author Ahmad Isma'il al-Barzanji has been established under Ahmad, while a similar name, Ahmad Muhammad al-Tha'labi, is entered under al-Tha'labi. These inconsistencies have not been clarified with cross-references. In fact, there is not a single cross-reference in the author index or any other section of the bibliography.

- 2) Many authors have been established in two different ways. al-Balghithi (which is typed as al-Balqishi by mistake) is also found under al-Ma'mūn al-Balghithi al-Hasani al-'Alawi. Another author by the name of As'ad al-Khalidi al-Naqshabandi, who is better known as al-Shaykh As'ad, is established for the second time under Muhammad As'ad al-Naqshabandi.
- 3) Several names have been copied erroneously from western catalogs. al-Hadrami has been converted repeatedly into its original Arabic form as al-Hadrami (with Ha' instead of Ha' and Dal instead of Dad). Also, in Yahya Ibn 'Adiyy al-Basri, the letter 'Ayn in 'Adiyy has been converted into Arabic script as Hamzah.
- 4) There are several complicated mix-ups between authors, some of which need detective work to sort out. For example: Ibn Abī Zayd al-Qayrawānī (d. 10th century), the famous Maliki jurist, and 'Abd Allāh Ibn al-Hasan al-Qayrawānī. The former is the author of al-Risalah and the latter presumably wrote the small pamphlet, Ittifaq 'Ulamā 'al-Tahqiq 'ala anna Abā Hudā al-Sayyadī Zindīg. Dr. Nosseir has put the text of Ittifaq under Ibn Abī Zayd al-Qayrawanī, despite the fact that this text is about Abu al-Hudā al-Sayyadī, the nineteenth century advisor to the Ottoman Sultan 'Abd al-Hamīd. Second, she attributes the text of al-Risalah to the nineteenth century author. In addition, Dr. Nosseir has assigned similar dates to both authors.
- 5) There are scores of typographical errors. One example is the name of *al-Tantada'i* with Hamzah, which has been rendered with 'Ayn some 38 times. Other errors are as follows:

1/177	1982	should be	1872
1/282	Razzuq	should be	Zarrüq
1/373	al-Wardifi	should be	al-Wardighi
1/508	Ramdhí	should be	al-Tirmidhi
2/1954	al-Masawi	should be	al-Masari (or al-Massari)
3/53	Qilgat	should be	Qilfat
4/880	Tantabawi	should be	Tantawi
8/43	Ibn Hazil	should be	Ibn Hudhayl
			•

al-Shadhill entitled al-fAdl al-shahid fi tahqiq al-mashahid (Cairo:

Muhammad Ráfi^e Muski, 1865/6? 160 pp.?)

2) Many of the titles have incomplete or wrong information. For example, one of al-Murtadá al-Zābidī's books is rendered as Sharh asrār ihya fulum al-din whereas the full title is: Ithaf al-sadah al-muttaqin fi sharh asrār ihyā ulum al-dīh. Also, this 1893 edition is very likely the 1894 edition which was printed by al-Matba ah al-Maymaniyah in 10 volumes. Another is Jawahir al-iklil by al-Sufi, which is listed with no publisher. This lithographic edition was printed by al-Matba ah al-Baruniyah.

3) There are scores of editions of the same title and the difference between them is one year. It is my belief that the following numbers which are presumed to be different are really the same: 2/114 and 2/115, 2/431 and 2/432, 2/1143 and 2/1144. Such a mix-up is the result of inconsistent conversion of Hijrah dates into Christian ones. If one does not take into account the exact month, it is very likely that one will be off by a year.

4) Dates of authors are not reliable and they should be examined. One obvious error is found in the date assigned to Ahmad al-Sayyadi al-Rifa. His date of 1271 cannot be correct if his work is a commentary

about Buhrug who died in 1524.

To improve Dr. Nosseir's bibliography, a major revision is necessary, with the assistance of a specialist in Islamic and Arabic studies. If such an expert is not readily available, the present bibliography must be reorganized by title, along with an author index. Cross-references are a must. Also, it would be extremely useful if the compiler could provide the reader with an index of all printers and printing establishments, especially the lithographic editions and those other than the Bulaq establishment about which we already know a great deal. By providing such an index, Dr. Nosseir could enhance the value of her bibliography immensely and provide a valuable service to all scholars of Egypt and the Islamic world.

> Fawzi Abdulrazak Harvard College Library

POSITION AVAILABLE

ISLAMIC STUDIES LIBRARIAN, UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA-SANTA BARBARA

Assistant/Associate Librarian \$27360-48,180 annual range

Position Description: Reporting to the Head of the Cataloging Dept. and the Asst. Univ. Librarian for Collection Development, the Islamic Studies Librarian selects, catalogs, and provides reference service for the Islamic collection. The Islamic collection consists of approx. 9,000 vols., of which 3,000 are in Arabic, with another 6,000 in western European and English languages. Islamic studies at UCSB emphasize history, religious studies and other social sciences.

Responsibilities: The Islamic Studies Librarian is responsible for all aspects of the management and development of the Islamic collection. Works closely with the faculty. Responsible for original and copy cataloging of Islamic materials. Works independently using judgment to solve complex cataloging problems. Provides reference, research service and assistance in the use of Islamic collections. May work at the Main Reference Desk (Social Science/Humanities), providing general reference service.

Qualifications: Required: ALA accredited MLS or equivalent; broad academic background and extensive working experience with Arabic and Persian collections; reading proficiency in Arabic required, and desireable in Persian, Turkish, or Hebrew; experience in automated cataloging and collection management in a research library. Knowledge of appropriate literature, publishers, vendors. Demonstrated ability to work with faculty and colleagues. Oral and written communication skills.

Applicants for the position should apply in writing, including a complete resume and the names of three references to:

DETRICE BANKHEAD
ASST. UNIV. LIBRARIAN, PERSONNEL
UNIV. OF CALIFORNIA
SANTA BARBARA CA 93106

Applications will be reviewed starting 15 Nov. 1990.

[BLANK PAGE]

MIDDLE EAST LIBRARIANS ASSOCIATION MEMBERSHIP LIST 1990

Laurie Abbott 5427 S. Harper

Chicago IL 60615

USA

laurie@cerberus.uchicago.edu; laurie%cerberus@uchimvs1.bitnet;

..uunet!cerberus.uchicago.edu!laurie

Professional

Fawzi Abdulrazak Arabic Specialist

Middle Eastern Dept.

Widener Library Harvard University

Cambridge MA 02138

USA

617-495-2437

Professional

Midhat D. Abraham 701 E. Via Entrada

Tucson AZ 85718

USA

Professional

James Agenbroad

Box 291

Garret Park MD 20896

USA

202-707-9612

Associate

A. Gia Aivazian
Technical Services Dept.
Research Library
UCLA
Los Angeles CA 90024
USA
213-825-7893
Professional

Joanne Akeroyd 56 Kingfisher Circle South Windsor CT 06074 USA Associate

Virginia Aksan 248 Rushton Rd. Toronto Ont. M6G 3J5 CANADA 416-978-4839 Professional

Michael W. Albin 5603 Ventnor Lane Springfield VA 22151 USA 202-707-5361 Professional

Karnel Muhammad Gab-Allah Descriptive Cataloging Library of Congress Washington DC 20540 USA Professional Mohammed B. Alwan 8 Cherry Street Somerville MA 02143 USA 617-731-1030 Associate

Rosalie Cuneo Amer 524 Caleb Ave. Sacramento CA 95819 USA 916-456-9148 Associate

Margaret Anderson
Faculty of Library and Information Science
University of Toronto
140 St. George Street
Toronto Ont. M5S 1A1
CANADA
416-978-7089
Associate

George N. Atiyeh
Head, Near East; Section
Orientalia Division
Library of Congress
Washington DC 20540
USA
Professional

J. Paul Auchterlonie
Asst. Librarian for Arabic & Islamic Studies
University of Exeter Library
Stocker Road
Exeter
EX4 4PT ENGLAND
0392-77911
Professional

Stephanie Aziza
Middle East Supervisor
Oriental Studies Collection
University of Arizona Library
Tucson AZ 85721
USA
Professional

Ruth Baacke 241 Bayside Rd. Bellingham WA 98225 USA Associate

Jere L. Bacharach
Dept. of History
University of Washington
Seattle WA 98195
USA
206-543-5790
Associate

Wolfgang Behn 415 Herr Ave. Millersville PA 17551 USA Professional

Basima Bezirgan 5000 S. Cornell #7B Chicago IL 60615 USA 312-962-8726/8425 Professional Brenda E. Bickett
Arabic Materials Specialist
Georgetown University Library
PO Box 37445
Washington DC 20013
USA
202-687-7541 FAX:202-687-1215
Professional

Joan C. Biella 4853 Cordell Ave. #616 Bethesda MD 20814 USA Professional

Helen Bikhazi
Jafet Library
American University of Beirut
Beirut
LEBANON
340740 ext. 28349
Associate

Eleazar Birnbaum
132 Invermay Ave.
Downsview Ont. M3H 1Z8
CANADA
416-978-3308
Associate

Palmira Brummet
University of Tennessee, Dept. of History
McClung 1117
Knoxville TN 37996
USA
615-691-8548
Associate

Bruce R. Carrick H.W. Wilson Co. 950 University Ave. Bronx NY 10452 USA 212-588-8400 Associate

Eliezer Chammou
Technical Services Dept.
University Research Library
UCLA
405 Hildegard Ave.
Los Angeles CA 90024
USA
Professional

Araxie Churukian
University of California
The Library - 53
PO Box 5900
Riverside CA 92517
USA
714-787-3233
Professional

Bruce D. Craig 1172 Thorn Creek Lane Crete IL 60417 USA 312-684-0287 Professional

Janice M. Crichton 238 Indian Rd. #2 Toronto, Ont. M6R 2W9 CANADA Associate Mary Ann Danner Indiana University Library E-960 Bloomington IN 47405 USA Professional

Mark T. Day
Reference Dept.
Indiana University Libraries
Bloomington IN 47405
USA
Professional

Bertrand Deneuil ALF-Equitaine Legal Dept. Tour-Elf 92340 Paris - La Defense FRANCE Professional

Pamela Deemer Technical Services, Woodruff Library Emory University Atlanta GA 30322 USA Professional

John P. Downey
Islamic Cataloger
Near East Division
University Library
University of Michigan
Ann Arbor MI 48109-1205
USA
Professional

Dr. Peter Duignan
Curator
Africa/Mideast Collections
Hoover Institution
Stanford CA 94305-2323
USA
415-723-2072
Associate

Aseel Nasir Dyck
Petroleum Engineering Reading Room
CPE 3.158
University of Texas-Austin
Austin TX 78712
USA
512-471-3161
Associate

John A. Eilts
Program Officer/Middle Eastern Specialist
The Research Library Group, Inc.
1200 Villa Street
Mountain View CA 94305-2323
USA
415-691-2266
FAX:415-964-0943 BITNET: BLJAE@RLG.BITNET;
RLG mail: BLJAE; Telex 3719199
Professional

Magda El-Sherbini
Catalog Dept.
Main Library
Ohio State University
1858 Neil Ave. Mall
Columbus OH 43210
USA
614-292-2664 FAX:614-292-3061
Professional

John Emerson
Persian Specialist
Middle Eastern Dept
Harvard College Library
Cambridge MA 02138
USA
617-495-2437
Professional

Kambiz Eslami
Princeton University
Firestone Library
Cataloguing Dept.
P. O. Box 190
Princeton NJ 08544
USA
609-452-5681
Professional

Susan J. Fatemi 1075C Monroe Ave. #3 Albany CA 94706 USA 415-525-0312 Associate

Asma Fathallah 1460 Dr. Penfield #1004 Montreal, Que. H3G 1B8 CANADA 514-845-2584 Professional

George Fawzy
Leila Bookshop
P.O. Box 31 El-Daher
11271
Cairo
ARAB REPUBLIC OF EGYPT
754402, 910682
Associate

Stephen Feldman
Asian Rare Books Inc.
234 Fifth Ave (3rd Floor)
New York NY 10001
USA
718-259-3732
Associate

Salwa Ferahian 4998 De Maisonneuve, #1416 Westmount PQ H3Z 1N2 CANADA 484-5492 Professional

E. Christian Filstrup
Overseas Operations
Library of Congress
Washington DC 20540
USA
202-707-5273
Professional

Leila Freije Jafet Memorial Library American University in Beirut Beirut LEBANON Professional

Leon Gabrielian 8024 E. Timberland Ave. Orange CA 92669 USA 213-649-0292 Professional A. Gacek
Head Librarian
Islamic Studies Library
Morrice Hall
McGill University
3485 McTavish
Montreal PQ H3A 1Y1
CANADA
Professional

Sandra Gamal
Cairo American College
Box 21 - American Embassy
APO NY 09674-0006
USA
Professional

Tony Gardner
Catalog Dept.
Library
Cal. State Univ.-Northridge
18111 Nordhoff St.
Northridge CA 91330
USA
818-885-2265
Associate

Meryle A. Gaston
Bobst Library
New York University
70 Washington Square South
New York NY 10012
USA
212-998-2458
Professional

Prof. C.L. Geddes
Dept. of History
University of Denver
Denver CO 80208
USA
303-871-2967
Associate

Eric Goldstein
Committee to Protect Journalists
36 W. 44th St. Rm. 911
New York NY 10036
USA
212-944-7216
Associate

Aida Haddad Birzeit University Library P.O. Box 14 Birzeit WEST BANK - via ISRAEL Professional

Robert Lee Hadden
1612 Peach St.
Ann Arbor MI 48105
USA
Professional

Mohamed N. Hamdy 2531 S. Ivanhoe Place Denver CO 80222 USA 303-758-7158 Associate Marsha Hamilton
Acquisitions Dept.
The Ohio State Univ. Main Library
1858 Neil Avenue Mall
Columbus OH 43210
USA
614-292-6314 FAX:614-292-3061
Associate

Nadim J. Hamod University of Bahrain P.O. Box 32038 Isa Town BAHRAIN 688775 Professional

John F. Harvey
PO Box 122
Lyndonville VT 05851
USA
Professional

Janet P. Heineck
Monograph Cataloguing FM-25
Univ. of Washington Libraries
Seattle WA 98195
USA
206-543-4828 BITNET:UWADC HEINECK
Professional

David G. Hirsch
Judaic Studies Bibliographer
Research Library
UCLA
405 Hilgard Ave.
Los Angeles CA 90024
USA
Professional

Dr. Margaret S. Hoell
Oriental Studies Collection
University Library
University of Arizona
Tucson AZ 85721
USA
Professional

Michael E. Hopper
Middle Eastern Dept.
Harvard College Library
Harvard University
Cambridge MA 02138
USA
617-495-2437
Professional

Ali Houissa 702 Hudson St. Ithaca NY 14850 USA Professional

J. Dennis Hyde 511 S. Melville St. Philadelphia PA 19143 USA 215-898-6675 Professional

Edward A. Jajko 6235 Shadygrove Dr. Cupertino CA 95014 USA 415-723-2050 Professional Boyd F. Johnson 20542 Lost River Rd. Nevada Cita CA 95959 Associate

A. Kader Middle East Library Specialist P.O. Box 11491 Karachi 5 PAKISTAN Professional

Harriet Kasow Rehov Kubovy 27-7 Ramat Danya Jerusalem ISRAEL 02-419299

Mary Helen Kennedy 37 Wiggins St. Princeton NJ 08540 USA Associate

Kristen Kern 5454 S.W. Burton Drive Portland State University Portland OR 97221 USA

Lois Khairallah Saudi Arabian Information Office 601 New Hampshire Ave. NW Washington DC 20037 USA 202-342-3800 ext. 2312 Professional Omar Khalidi Aga Khan Librarian MIT 77 Massachusetts Ave. Cambridge MA 02139 USA 617-253-7822 Professional

Bijan Khalili Ketab Corporation 16661 Ventura Blvd., Suite 111 Encino CA 91436 USA 818-995-3827 Professional

Mrs. Hosneya Khattab 423 Hill Street Santa Monica CA 90405 USA Professional

Fawzi Khoury
The University of Washington Libraries
FM-25
Seattle WA 98195
USA
206-737-3260
Bitnet: fawzi@milton.u.washington.edu
Professional

Patricia A. Kinchlow 1515 Walnut St. New Albany IN 47150 812-944-4097 Associate Brien Kinkel 14100 Whispering Pines Ct. - #11 Silver Spring MD 20906 USA 202-737-4472 Associate

Alice L. Kniskern
New Delhi - LOC
Dept. of State
Washington DC 20520-9000
USA
Professional

Miroslav Krek 805 Boston Post Road Weston MA 02193 USA 617-899-2989 Associate

Sinan Kuneralp Semsibey Sok. No. 10 Beylerbeyi - Istanbul TURKEY Associate

Horace Kurdy
Catalog Dept.
Marriott Library
University of Utah
Salt Lake City UT 84112
USA
801-581-7265
Professional

Connie Lamb 4224 HBLL Brigham Young University Provo UT 84602 USA 801-378-6196 Professional

Louise F. Leonard 1314 NW 39th Drive Gainesville FL 32605 USA 904-293-0351 Professional

Dr. James Maccaferri 11617 National Blvd. Los Angeles CA 90064 USA Professional

Hamid Mahamadi Islamica Collections 390 Main Library U. of California-Berkeley Berkeley CA 94720 USA 415-642-0956 Professional

Paul Maher 429 Christopher Ave. T 3 Gaithersburg MD 20879 USA Professional Ragai N. Makar Head, Middle East Library University of Utah 1572 S. 1400 E. Salt Lake City UT 84105 USA 801-581-6311 Professional

Farouk Mardam-Bey Institut du Monde Arabe 1 rue des Fosses St. Bernard Paris 75005 FRANCE Associate

Martin J. McDermott, S.J. Bibliotheque orientale B.P. 166775 Achrafieh Beirut LEBANON Professional

Larry Miller ; 1663 Colonial Terrace Arlington VA 22209 USA Associate

Frank W. Miller Vice President The H.W. Wilson Co. 950 University Ave. Bronx NY 10452 USA 212-588-8400 Associate Louis Mitler
P.O. Box 5545.
Charlottesville VA 22905-0545
USA
804-296-4543
Associate

Reza Moshtagi Reference Dept. University Research Library UCLA 405 Hilgard Ave. Los Angeles CA 90024 USA Professional

Faiez A. Mossad Middle East Collection University of Chicago Library 1100 E. 57th St. Chicago IL 60637 USA 312-962-8425 Associate

Abdel Rahman Mostafa 2702 Wisconsin Ave. NW #105 Washington DC 20007 USA Associate

Suad Muhammad-Gamal 5625 Pershing Ave. #33 St. Louis MO 63112 USA Professional Christopher Murphy Near East Section African and Middle East Division Library of Congress Washington DC 20540 USA Professional

Patricia A. Myers-Hayer 117 Duke St. Alexandria VA USA 202-707-6487 Professional

Nawal Naamani Jafet Library American University of Beirut P.O. Box 11/0236 Beirut LEBANON Professional

Paula Nielson Head, Cataloging Dept. & Systems Librarian Loyola-Marymount University Library Los Angeles CA 90045 USA 213-338-1804 Professional

Dr. Aida Nosseir American University in Cairo Library P.O. Box 2511 Cairo ARAB REPUBLIC OF EGYPT Professional Corinne Nyquist Sojourner Truth Library SUNY College at New Paltz New Paltz NY 12561 USA Professional

Sarah S. Ozturk 2816 W. George Mason Rd. Falls Church VA 22042 USA 703-534-2059 Professional

Cecile Panzer P.O. Box 3761 Jerusalem ISRAEL BITNET: HUJIVMI WSRCP Associate

Barbara Parker
Cataloging Dept., University Library
University of Massachusetts
Amherst MA 01003
USA
413-545-2728
Professional

David H. Partington
Middle East Librarian
Middle East Div.
Harvard College Library
Cambridge MA 02138
USA
617-495-4310
Professional

Brian M. Peck 100 E. Water #6 Tucson AZ 85719 USA 602-622-0255 Associate

Preston L. Pittman 76 W. 86th St. #5F New York NY 10024 USA Professional

Elizabeth J. Plantz c/o The Vice Rector for Research Kuwait University P.O. Box 5969 Safat 13060 KUWAIT 5749736 Professional

James W. Pollock 36 Oak Lane Washington IA 52353 USA 319-653-7481 Professional

Atifa R. Rawan Main Library University of Arizona Tucson AZ 85704 USA 602-621-6452 Professional Anthony Raymond c/o The Vice Rector for Research Kuwait University P.O. Box 5969 Safat 13060 KUWAIT Professional

Farzaneh Razzaghi 1201 W. University Dr. LRC 214 Edinburgh TX 78539 USA Associate

Sophie Rentz 790 Mayfield Ave. Stanford CA 94305 USA 415-493-8858 Professional

Paul John Rich Doha Club Library P.O. Box 3666 Doha QATAR Professional

Andras J. Riedlmayer
Bibliographer in Islamic Art & Architecture
Fine Arts Library
Fogg Art Museum
Harvard University
Cambridge MA 02138
USA
617-495-3372
Professional

Kay Ritchie 13485 Bristow Rd. Nokesville VA 22123 USA 202-707-6487 Professional

Priscilla H. Roberts
Apt. 1011
4400 East-West Highway
, Bethesda MD 20814
USA
Associate

Jonathan Rodgers
Near East Division
University of Michigan Library
Ann Arbor MI 48109
USA
313-764-7523
Professional

G.J. Roper
Islamic Bibliography Unit
University Library
West Road
Cambridge CB3 9DR
ENGLAND
0223-61441 ext. 254
Professional

Sohrab Rostamian Kitab Corp. 6742 Van Nuys Blvd., First Floor Van Nuys CA 91405 USA Associate Elizabeth Boury Salah Jafet Library American University of Beirut P.O. Box 11/0236 Beirut LEBANON Professional

Laila Salibi-Cripe 2631 E. 2nd St. Apt. 7 Bloomington IN 47401 USA Professional

Simon Samoeil 2018 Tulip Road Glenside PA 19038 USA 215-898-7548 Professional

James Sanchez
PO Box 12625
Tucson AZ 85732
USA
Professional

Abazar Sepehri
Middle East Studies Librarian
PCL 5-104
General Libraries
University of Texas
Austin TX 78712
USA
512-471-4675
Professional

Linda A. Shboul University of Sydney Sydney NSW 2006 AUSTRALIA 02-692-0929 Professional

Nabila Mango Shehadeh 311 41st Ave. San Mateo CA 94403 USA 415-341-3697 Professional

Farhad Shirzad Vice-President, Iranbooks 8014 Old Georgetown Road Bethesda MD 20814 USA 301-956-0079 Associate

Frank J. Shulman 9225 Limestone Place College Park MD 20740-3943 USA 301-454-2819 Associate

Sanford R. Silverburg Dept. of Political Science Catawba College Salisbury NC 28144-2488 USA Associate Reeva S. Simon 342 W. Penn St. Long Beach NY 11561 USA 516-431-5702 Associate

Kathryn Sorury
Cataloging Dept. Rm. E350
Main Library
Indiana University
Bloomington IN 47405
USA
Associate

Svat Soucek 393 Walnut Lane Princeton NJ 08540 USA 609-924-2749 Professional

Paul Sprachman 107 S. 4th Ave. Highland Park NJ 08904 USA 201-819-8330 Professional

Mary S. St. Germain 811 NE 83rd Seattle WA 98115 USA Dona S. Straley
114 E. California Ave.
Columbus OH 43202
USA
614-292-3362
FAX:614-292-3061
BITNET: OHSTVMA TS5268
Professional

Muhammad H. Sulaiman Sulaiman's Bookshop P.O. Box 8258 Beirut LEBANON 238652 Associate

Ahmad Taleb c/o Mrs. Asma Fathallah Jafet Library American University of Beirut P.O. Box 11/0236 Beirut LEBANON

Todd M. Thompson
Oriental Division-Rm. 219
New York Public Library
Fifth Ave. & 42nd St.
New York NY 10018
USA
212-930-0716
Professional

William Tuchrello Field Director, Cairo - LOC American Embassy FPO NY 09527 USA Professional Michelle G. Turner
The University of Chicago Library
1100 E. 57th St.
Room 170
Chicago IL 60637
USA
Professional

Frank H. Unlandherm
Middle East Bibliographer
Columbia University Libraries
International Affairs Bldg.
420 W. 118th Street
New York NY 10027
USA
212-280-3995
Professional

Katherine Van de Vate Princeton University Library One Washington Road Princeton NJ 08540 USA 609-452-5681 Professional

Lilian Vitale
Jafet Library
American University of Beirut
Beirut
LEBANON
340740 ext. 28347
Associate

Shaista Wahab University Library University of Nebraska at Omaha 60th & Dodge St. Omaha NE 68182-0237 USA Professional

Jessica C. Watson P. O. Box 33014 Raleigh NC 27606 USA 919-851-4510 Associate

James Weinberger
Near East Bibliographer
Princeton University Library
One Washington Road
Princeton NJ 08540
USA
609-258-3248/3279
Professional

Walter Werkmeister Universitatsbibliothek Tubingen Orientabteilung Postfach 2620 D-7400 Tubingen 1 WEST GERMANY 07071-292852 Professional Jan W. Weryho
Cataloging Dept., McLennan Library
McGill University
3459 McTavish Street
Montreal Quebec H3A 1Y1
CANADA
514-398-4791
Professional

Elizabeth Widenmann 159 W. 53rd St. #16-F New York NY 10019 USA 212-280-8045 Associate

Lesley Wilkins
74 Livermore Rd.
Belmont MA 02178
USA
617-484-3185
Associate

David Williams
Chicago Public Library
Social Sciences and History Division
400 N. Franklin
Chicago IL 60610
USA
312-269-2953
Professional

Dunning S. Wilson
Near East Bibliographer
Research Library
UCLA
Los Angeles CA 90024
USA
213-825-3942
Professional

Dr. Julian W. Witherell
Chief, African & Middle East Div.
Library of Congress
LA 1040-C
Washington DC 20540
USA
202-707-7937
Professional

Nassif Youssif
Head, Middle East Library
S-50 Wilson Library
University of Minnesota Libraries
309 19th Ave. South
Minneapolis MN 55455
USA
612-624-1012
Professional

Elliot Zak
Butler Library-Rm. 320
Columbia University Libraries
535 W. 114th St.
New York NY 10027
USA
212-280-2238
Professional

Amnon Zipin
308 Main Library
Ohio State University Library
1858 Neil Ave. Mall
Columbus OH 43210
USA
614-292-3362
FAX:614-292-3061
BITNET: OHSTVMA TS5268
Professional

David Zmijewski Middle East Division Widener Library Harvard University Cambridge MA 02138 USA 617-495-2437 Professional

Jalal Zuwiyya 4632 Salem Drive Binghamton NY 13903 USA 607-798-0889 Professional

SUBSCRIPTION LIST

American Library Association Headquarters Library 50 E. Huron St. Chicago, IL 60611 USA 312-944-6780

American University in Cairo Attn: Mrs. Shahira Elsawy 113 Kasr El Aini P.O. Box 2511 Cairo ARAB REPUBLIC OF EGYPT

Bahai World Centre Library P.O. Box 155 Haifa 31001 ISRAEL

Bayerische Staatsbibliothek Zeitschriftensaal Postfach 34 01 50 D-8000 Munchen 34 FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY

Biruni Library 15 Beaulieu Ave. Sydenham London SE26 6PN ENGLAND

P10
Boston University Library
Serials Dept.
771 Commonwealth Ave.
Boston, MA 02215
USA

Serials Section Brandeis University Library Waltham, MA 02254 USA The British Library Library Association Library 7 Ridgemount Street London WC1E 7AE ENGLAND

College of Librarianship Wales Periodicals Dept. Llanbadarn Fawr Aberystwyth SY23 3AS Dyfed WALES, UNITED KINGDOM

Library Service Library 606 Butler Library Columbia University New York, NY 10027 USA

Keeper of Oriental Books
Oriental Section
Durham University Library
Elvet Hill
Durham DH1 3TH
ENGLAND

D & N Faxon 7048-CL PO Box 70 Norwood, MA 02062 USA

Periodicals Dept., Library Haifa University Mount Carmel Haifa 31999 ISRAEL

Serials Dept. Widener Library Harvard University Cambridge MA 02138 USA Library and Documentation Unit Harry S. Truman Research Institute Hebrew University of Jerusalem Mount Scopus Jerusalem 91-190 ISRAEL

04818264270DHU Howard Univ. Undergraduate Library-Serials Dept. Mr. Player 500 Howard Place Washington, DC 20059 USA

Indiana University Library Serials Department Bloomington, IN 47405 USA

Institut du monde arabe Bibliotheque - Mme. Leroy 40 rue du Cherche Midi 75006 Paris FRANCE

Institute of Developing Economies Library Services Division 42 Ichigaya-Honmura-cho Shinjuku-ku Tokyo 162 JAPAN

The Library of Congress Exchange and Gift Division Gift Section Washington, DC 20540 USA Islamic Studies Library Morrice Hall McGill University 3485 McTavish Street Montreal, PQ H3A 1Y1 CANADA

Middle East Studies Association Dept. of Oriental Studies Univ. of Arizona Tucson, AZ 85721 USA 602-621-5850

Assistant Librarian (Serial)
Acquisitions Section
National Library
Stamford Road S0617
REPUBLIC OF SINGAPORE

New York Public Library-Div. P Grand Central Station PO Box 2240 New York, NY 10017 USA

Africana Northwestern University Library Evanston, IL 60201 USA

Persian Book Mart PO Box 241574 Memphis, TN 38124 USA 901-452-6908

Portland State University Library-Serials PO Box 1151 Portland, OR 97207 USA Serials Division Princeton Univ. Library Princeton, NJ 08540 USA

St. John's Univ. Library Serials Grand Central & Utopia Parkways Jamaica, NY 11439 USA

Schmidt Periodicals GmbH Dettendorf D-8201 Bad Feilnbach 2 WEST GERMANY

Periodicals-Beatley Library Simmons College Library 300 The Fenway Boston, MA 02115 USA

Die Staatsbibliothek Preussischer Kulturbesitz II A. Potsdamer Str. 33 D 1000 Berlin 30 Postfach 1407 GERMANY

Swets Subscription Service 650 Swedesford Rd. P.O. Box 517 Berwyn PA 19312 USA

Tel Aviv University Central Library Elias Sourasky Library Periodicals Dept. P.O. Box 39038 Tel Aviv 61390 ISRAEL Tokai University 11 Gokan Bunkan Kitakaname Hiratsuku-shi Kanagawa-ken 259-12 Mz JAPAN

U.C.A.S. Newsriders c/o John Menzies Library Services Ltd. P.O. Box 17 24 Gamble Street Nottingham NG7 4FJ ENGLAND

Universitatsbibliothek Wilhelmstrasses 32 Postfach 2620 D7400 Tubingen WEST GERMANY

Serials Division Perpustakaan Tun Seri Lanang Universiti Kebansaan Malaysia 43600 UKM Bangi Selangor MALAYSIA

Serials Dept. 01 Main Library University of California Berkeley, CA 94720

Serials Dept.
University Research Library
University of California
Los Angeles, CA 90024

University of Chicago Joseph Regenstein Library Serials Dept. 1100 E. 57th St. Chicago, IL 60637 USA The Library
Periodicals Department
School of Oriental and African Studies
University of London
Malet Street
London WC1E 7HP
ENGLAND, UNITED KINGDOM

International Institute for Information Programs College of Library Services University of Maryland College Park, MA 20742 USA

University of Qatar c/o John Menzies Library Services Ltd. P.O. Box 17 24 Gamble Street Nottingham NG7 4FJ ENGLAND, UNITED KINGDOM

The Library
The Institute of Development Studies
The University of Sussex
Andrew Cohen Building
Falmer, Brighton BN1 9RE
ENGLAND, UNITED KINGDOM

LS 31415 Serials Acquisitions General Libraries University of Texas Austin, TX 78712 USA

University of Toronto Library Serials Department Toronto Ontario M5S 1A5 CANADA Alderman Library Serials/Periodicals University of Virginia Charlottesville VA 22903 USA

76-032218-869 Univ. of Washington Libraries Serials Division Seattle, WA 98195 USA

Serials Dept.
Memorial Library
University of Wisconsin
728 State St.
Madison, WI 53706
USA

ZINK Sachbuchversand GmBH Merzhauser Str. 110 D-7800 Freiburg GERMANY

LATE NOTICE

Goodbye Salam 'Alaykum, Hallo Shalomi

The Harvard College Librarian, Mr. Richard De Gennaro, who was hired in June of this year, has abolished both the Middle Eastern Department and the Slavic Department at Harvard. The former departments have been downgraded to divisions and placed within a new Area Studies Department headed by the Judaica Librarian, Dr. Charles Berlin.